

Teacher education for the green transition and sustainable development

Analytical Report

Education and Training



Getting in touch with the EU Europe Direct is a service that answers your questions about the European Union. You can contact this service: • by freephone: 00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11 (certain operators may charge for these calls), • at the following standard number: +32 22999696 or • by email via:https://europa.eu/european-union/contact_en

Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 2023

© European Union, 2023 Reuse is authorised provided the source is acknowledged. The reuse policy of European Commission documents is regulated by Decision 2011/833/EU (OJ L 330, 14.12.2011, p. 39).

The information and views set out in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the official opinion of the Commission. The Commission does not guarantee the accuracy of the data included in this study. Neither the Commission nor any person acting on the Commission's behalf may be held responsible for the use which may be made of the information contained therein.

For any use or reproduction of photos or other material that is not under the EU copyright, permission must be sought directly from the copyright holders.

Teacher education for the green transition and sustainable development

Analytical Report

Dr Ingrid Mulà and Prof Daniella Tilbury

Please cite this publication as:

Mulà, I., & Tilbury, D. (2023). Teacher education for the green transition and sustainable development, EENEE analytical report. doi: 10.2766/144189.

ABOUT EENEE

EENEE is an advisory network of experts working on economics of education and training. The establishment of the network was initiated by the European Commission's Directorate-General for Education and Culture and is funded by the Erasmus+ Programme. PPMI is responsible for the coordination of the EENEE network. More information on EENEE and its deliverables can be found on the network's website www.eenee.eu. For any inquiries, please contact us at: eenee@ppmi.lt.

Contractor:



Gedimino pr. 50, LT -01110 Vilnius, Lithuania Phone: +370 5 2620338 E-mail: info@ppmi.lt www.ppmi.lt

AUTHORS:

Ingrid MULÀ Daniella TILBURY

PEER REVIEWER:

Miroslav BEBLAVÝ, EENEE Scientific Coordinator

Franz Rauch, Alpen-Adria University Klagenfurt

LANGUAGE EDITOR:

James Nixon, freelance editor

EUROPEAN COMMISSION

Directorate-General for Education, Youth, Sport and Culture Directorate A — Policy Strategy and Evaluation Unit A.4 — Evidence-Based Policy and Evaluation

E-mail: eac-unite-a4@ec.europa.eu

European Commission B-1049 Brussels



Table of contents

Table of contents	5
Executive summary	6
Definitions	.11
Chapter 1. Context and background	.13
The policy landscape	.13
Transforming education and learning	.14
Teacher education as the priority	.14
The teacher education system	.15
Chapter 2. Scope and methodology	.17
Aim and scope	.17
Research methodology	.17
Limitations	
Key Informant Group	.18
Chapter 3. What is: an overview of LfS experiences in schools and teacher education	
Overview of current school experiences	.20
Overview of current teacher education experiences	.22
Chapter 4. What could be: teachers for the green transition	
Teacher competences in LfS	
Developing LfS competences through teacher education	
Key challenges and questions for future practice	
Chapter 5. Changing teacher education: catalytic entry points	.33
LfS as a political and policy commitment	.33
Professional competences and standards: driving quality throughout schools	
Recognition and reward – incentivising and motivating teachers	
Micro-credentials and the certification of learning	
Resources for a sustainable future	
Changing together: collaborative enquiries and peer learning	.44
Framing LfS as educational innovation or renewal	.47
Fresh insights and visions: futures education and new technologies	
Chapter 6. Recommendations	
References	
Appendices	
Appendix 1. Case studies	
Appendix 2. Key Informant Group	
Appendix 3. Case study informants	.71



Executive summary

Context and methodology

The move to a greener future requires that we all learn to live and work in more sustainable ways. Teacher professional learning has been identified as one of the most significant catalysts for bringing innovation and sustainability into our education systems, and thus equipping learners to contribute to this transition.

Importantly, in June 2022 the European Union (EU) has adopted a Council Recommendation on learning for the green transition and sustainable development. This Recommendation formally calls for learning for sustainability (LfS) to become a key priority area in education policies and programmes, and for support to be given to educators through training and professional development in this area. Learning for sustainability is concerned with building the knowledge, skills, values and attitudes to engage with the major issues threatening both people and planet.

This analytical report reviews documented research and good practices in relation to effective teacher education for sustainability, with the purpose of informing policy decision-making and frameworks in this area. Its findings and recommendations have been drawn from an extensive literature review, and are supported by a Key Informant Group that has helped to identify blind spots and check the validity of the research and experiences presented.

Current LfS experiences in schools and teacher education

Although LfS is not a curriculum priority in most jurisdictions, its coverage, scope and depth in schools have improved significantly over recent years. However, various obstacles still hinder the process of embedding LfS into school education. These include the structuring of curricula around single subjects, and the greater emphasis currently placed on the cognitive domain of sustainability in comparison to socio-emotional or action learning. Currently, only individual champions and some eco-schools are taking the lead by considering more transformative forms of learning. This is no surprise, since most teachers have not been trained to design, facilitate and assess learning experiences of this nature.

Although teachers are generally aware and committed to teaching for sustainability, many do not feel ready to do so. Current LfS efforts in teacher education tend to be isolated and fragmented, instead of being mainstreamed into existing professional learning programmes for teachers, or in day-to-day practice. In initial teacher education (ITE) programmes, LfS often takes as the form of one-off curriculum development projects, and occurs primarily in geography and science courses. In continuing professional development (CPD) programmes, it is often characterised by one-time, theoretical and decontextualised sessions for groups of individual teachers seeking to improve their teaching practice.

Many teachers are eager to continue learning about sustainability through professional development. Although they are aware that opportunities in this area exist in their countries, they recognise that they have not taken these up. Thus, it is important to assess what is preventing them from engaging in sustainability training, as well as whether and how their participation is incentivised and recognised.



The review also highlights the key role that teacher educators play in guiding teachers at all stages of their careers. Despite this, some countries often neglect to identify this key group at policy level, or fail to give them the professional development support they need.

Teachers and competences for the green transition

Over recent years, numerous sustainability competence frameworks for teachers have been developed and piloted. However, these have had little impact on teacher education to date. Their complexity and divergence from dominant practice make them difficult to embed into an already densely packed teacher education curriculum.

Designing teacher education that includes LfS competences requires existing frameworks to be adapted so that they consider micro-contexts (individual teachers or teacher candidates and programmes), meso-contexts (institutions), and macro-contexts (education and social systems). Most studies have concluded that professional development involving substantial contact hours over a long period of time is more effective in developing teacher competences. Also, teachers learn most effectively when programmes are content focused, use active learning, support collaboration, are schoolbased, use modelling of effective practice, provide mentoring support, and offer opportunities for feedback and critical reflection.

Catalytic entry points to change teacher education

This report proposes eight catalytic points and actions that can provide some of the core pathways for changing the provision and mainstreaming of LfS in teacher education:

- LfS as a political and policy commitment: this report identifies that political commitment and leadership at the highest levels has proven to be catalytic in the drive to change and embed LfS into teacher education. A connected or 'whole-of-government' approach to LfS enhances the reach of policies. Similarly, the alignment of initiatives with national policy agendas or priorities is seen as increasing the chances of successfully embedding LfS into teacher education.
- 2) Professional competences and standards driving quality throughout schools: embedding LfS into teacher professional standards is one of the most effective ways to mainstream sustainability and promote quality learning experiences. Establishing expectations and pathways for teachers to develop competences in LfS over the course of their careers is also an impactful way to embed learning about sustainability in schools.
- 3) Recognition and reward incentivising and motivating teachers: recognition schemes can incentivise educators to delve into or deepen their engagement with LfS. The inclusion of LfS criteria in role descriptions and the responsibilities of positions has also been shown to be effective in upscaling sustainability learning efforts. It incentivises teachers and teacher educators to seek professional development in this area, and offers recognition of their expertise in this area.
- 4) Micro-credentials and the certification of learning: micro-credentials provide new avenues and great potential for driving LfS in schools and teacher education in the near future. Further experimentation is necessary regarding how to develop and use microcredentials in LfS; the challenge is to provide micro-credentials that are flexible and relevant, and which offer equal opportunities to certify professional competences, so that the certification is relevant and comparable between Member States.



- 5) Resources for a sustainable future: the value of developing teacher resources to support LfS is well recognised, and has been shown to be key to mainstreaming educational initiatives in schools. National agencies that are seeking to reorientate the course of teacher education towards sustainability could consider developing or adapting resources. Such resources must clearly and explicitly identify objectives that align with teachers' needs in this area, and should be based on extensive piloting and cycles of improvement.
- 6) Changing together collaborative inquiries and peer learning: LfS networks and platforms have proved instrumental in activating a cultural change both in schools and in teacher education, especially where there is a lack of dedicated support from government or of sub-regional opportunities in relation to LfS. Participatory research approaches and change academies have also been identified as providing ideal platforms for institutions to challenge their perceptions and misconceptions regarding sustainability, as well as to clarify what it means to create authentic learning opportunities in this area.
- 7) Framing LfS as educational innovation or renewal: efforts that articulate the wider value of LfS in education and to learners, beyond immediate concerns with the environment and sustainability, can deepen the engagement of teachers and educators. Such efforts are effective in reaching those teachers who are yet to commit to sustainability, but who have an interest in educational quality or creating better opportunities for students. In addition, initiatives that connect LfS with the reform of educational pedagogies more broadly, and with other educational agendas such as the digital transition, have greater chances of success.
- 8) Fresh insights and visions futures education and new technologies: research suggests that connecting teachers with research institutions and groups engaging in with futures and digital learning projects can inspire these teachers to rethink their practices in the light of sustainability. Such approaches offer significant potential to shape learning experiences in LfS and to consider alternatives futures with the help of new technologies. However, it must be recognised that while some teachers are captivated by digital innovation, others fear the changes that technology might bring.

Recommendations

The report proposes the following recommendations, framed primarily for policy makers:

- Recommendation 1. Celebrate by visibly showcasing political leadership and policy commitment towards LfS by specific EU Member States, within the context of teacher education. Such examples will attract the attention of others to this agenda. Similarly, promote a 'whole-of-government' response to LfS that leads to integrated policy and use of resources. This could be achieved by documenting and celebrating best practice.
- **Recommendation 2. Convene** authorities, agencies and professional groups to consider how best to embed LfS into professional standards or competence frameworks of teachers. Integrate LfS into definitions of what it is to be a qualified and effective teacher. Establish expectations, evaluation systems and pathways for teachers to develop and demonstrate competences in this area. It is important that this is achieved through collaborative processes securing the involvement of the teaching profession.
- **Recommendation 3. Promote** the use of self-evaluation approaches and reflective practice tools to drive the development of teachers' competences in LfS. This should be



carried out by establishing networks of teachers, evaluators and 'critical friends' that encourage deep reflection and challenge current practices. Consideration should be given to generating guidelines and tools in this area.

- **Recommendation 4. Recognise** best practice in schools, colleges and teacher education, as well as outstanding educators in LfS, through the use of award schemes. A European-wide competition would not only motivate engagement but also trigger conversations about what constitutes best practice in this area. Member States could establish their own processes and nominate candidates, encouraging them to consider what best practice in LfS looks like.
- **Recommendation 5. Create,** through grants and funding schemes, spaces for teachers and teacher educators to grow LfS projects through teacher collaboration and peer-learning. Encourage authorities and agencies to provide similar collaborative learning pathways at national and sub-regional levels.
- **Recommendation 6. Incentivise** teachers to develop their competences and experiences in LfS. Include sustainability criteria into role descriptions, the responsibilities of positions, and in career progression profiles. A publication that captures the best of these examples could help to inspire others.
- **Recommendation 7: Support** teacher education providers through targeted schemes that provide funding, networking platforms and other resources to assist them in integrating LfS into their professional education and development offerings. Such efforts should be aimed at initial and practising teachers, as well as headteachers and education leaders.
- **Recommendation 8. Encourage** the certification of LfS training through microcredentials. These micro-credentials should be flexible, relevant, offer equal opportunities to teachers, and be transferrable. The European Commission could work alongside relevant stakeholders to support experimentation and piloting in this area.
- **Recommendation 9. Advance** the development of resources for teacher education providers by promoting efforts that address LfS as a pedagogical strategy through a whole-school approach. Work with stakeholders to ensure that these resources are relevant to teachers' needs in this area (and not simply environmental objectives), and are based on extensive piloting and cycles of improvement.
- **Recommendation 10. Develop** guidelines and a set of criteria to evaluate the effectiveness of LfS professional development programmes and resources offered by teacher education providers. Encourage the adaptation of these guidelines at national and sub-regional levels, and for the particular stakeholder groups.
- **Recommendation 11. Raise awareness** of the importance of multi-stakeholder platforms that provide professional learning opportunities and facilitate access to LfS materials, especially where there is a lack of dedicated support from government or of sub-regional opportunities in relation to sustainability learning.
- **Recommendation 12. Invest** in participatory action research and change academies that enable stakeholder groups to develop and implement strategic actions with regard to LfS in policies, programmes and practice. Encourage national authorities, professional bodies and other stakeholders to support these processes.



- **Recommendation 13. Define** the value of LfS to learners, and demonstrate how it can contribute to meeting core educational priorities. This will attract the attention of those teachers who are not yet engaging with sustainability, but who may be curious to learn more.
- **Recommendation 14. Connect** programmes and funding schemes that encourage better alignment between the digital and green transitions in teacher education, as a way of increasing the uptake of LfS by teachers. Encourage authorities and agencies to do likewise.
- **Recommendation 15. Inspire** greater engagement with LfS by encouraging teachers and teacher educators to work with research institutions and groups engaging with futures and metaverse learning projects. Form partnerships that will encourage teacher education providers to experiment with these areas, and explore ways to transgress the boundaries of current educational approaches.



Definitions

Catalytic entry point is understood as a focal point from which actions are shown to have a ripple effect across the teacher education system.

Continuing professional development (CPD) is a process by which practising teachers enhance their personal and professional competences through active and contextualised forms of learning, inquiry and reflection. The terms 'continuous professional learning' or 'in-service education/training' are also used to refer to this process of teacher development. There are many different types of CPD providers, including higher education institutions; ministries, authorities and other public bodies responsible for education; schools; private businesses; associations; and other non-commercial organisations.

Decolonisation of education involves examining the limitations and biases of the current curriculum and educational experiences, to identify power relationships in learning and knowledge.

Embedding refers to efforts that seek to integrate sustainability into learning, management and administrative systems, so that all learners have the opportunity to experience LfS, regardless of their year group, class or programme selected. The terms 'embedding' and 'mainstreaming' are often used interchangeably. The latter term recognises that some relevant practices exist, but may currently be limited to the margins.

Green transition refers to policy measures and collective actions that will lead societies to address the sustainable development challenge in a just and inclusive way. In the EU, the European Green Deal (2020) constitutes the key transition strategy. This seeks to address climate change, boost the economy through green technology, and cut pollution. The green transition is both a challenge and a priority for education.

Initial teacher education (ITE) is the basic and compulsory period of training for a teacher to develop the key competences needed to perform their role effectively in the classroom, school and/or wider community. Such education is mostly offered by teacher education institutions, colleges, institutes, universities and schools.

In-service teacher refers to a teacher who holds a teaching qualification and is already teaching and creating learning experiences.

Interdisciplinary learning enables teachers and learners to make connections between subjects and disciplines by exploring clear and relevant links across the curriculum. It supports the use and application of what has been taught and learned in new and different ways. Interdisciplinary learning provides opportunities to deepen learning; for example, by addressing complex questions, exploring an issue, solving problems, or completing a final project.

Learning for sustainability (LfS) is an approach to life and learning that engages people in envisioning and transitioning towards a more sustainable future. It encompasses sustainability education, sustainability learning, education for sustainable development (ESD), environmental education, and other concepts aimed at transforming education towards sustainability. These terms are used interchangeably throughout the report.

Pre-service teacher refers to a teacher candidate or student teacher who is enrolled in a teacher education programme and pursuing a teaching qualification, licence or certification.



Sustainable development recognises that societies must strive "to meet the needs of present communities without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs" (UNGA, 1987). Achieving sustainable development requires more than simply technical and scientific solutions, and involves fundamental changes in how we think and live. It is often mistaken as being solely about environmental matters, when in fact it centres upon quality-of-life issues that connect environmental, socio-cultural and economic concerns. In this report, the terms 'sustainable development' and 'sustainability' are used interchangeably.

Teacher educator is a term used to refer to a university or school educator or a college or community trainer tasked with developing pre-service or in-service teachers.

Teacher education (sometimes known as teacher training) is a term used to describe the development of prospective or existing teachers. It includes references to policies, procedures and provisions designed to develop teachers' professional competences so that they can effectively create or facilitate learning in the classroom, school and wider community. The term can include professional development activities during the initial, induction and in-service training of teachers, as well as informal learning opportunities that can occur through peer interaction and networking.

Transformative pedagogies consist of active learning approaches that question teachercentred dynamics. They empower students by giving them choice and control over aspects of the learning exchange. Terms often associated with this form of learning include 'action learning', 'participatory learning' and 'holistic learning'. These pedagogies are regarding as being crucial to LfS.

Whole-school approach seeks to embed sustainability across an institution, and adopts a systemic view of education as creating opportunities for sustainability in living and learning. By adopt this approach, institutions connect what students learn through the curriculum with what is practised by the school through its management, operations and procurement as well as outreach. The whole-school approach also seeks to take learning outside of the classroom by engaging students in school decisions and involving them in projects within local and global communities.



Chapter 1. Context and background

The policy landscape

The European Green Deal is an ambitious plan to fight climate change and stop environmental degradation (European Commission, 2020a). It aims to make Europe climate neutral by 2050, with a set of interconnected goals that seek to transform every aspect of society and the economy. The Green Deal recognises that each sector must contribute to achieving transformational change and that education and learning have a key role to play in helping learners develop and strengthen their sustainability competences.

The contributions of education and learning to advancing the green transition are also recognised by other key European Union (EU) policies. These include the Biodiversity Strategy for 2030 (European Commission, 2021), the EU Skills Agenda (European Commission, 2020b), and the European Education Area Council Resolution (Council of the EU, 2021a). This policy landscape presents a consistent and connected approach to learning for the green transition. Importantly, the EU has recently adopted a Council Recommendation on learning for the green transition and sustainable development (Council of EU, 2022b), which urges member states to:

- make learning for sustainability (LfS) a key priority area in education and training policies and programmes;
- provide LfS opportunities at all levels of education and in all settings;
- provide infrastructure, resources and tools to implement LfS; and,
- support educators through training and professional development in this area.

At the global level, there has been a significant push for change arising out of the Agenda 2030 for Sustainable Development, and its Sustainable Development Goals (SGDs) (UNGA, 2015). In parallel, the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) Strategy on Education for Sustainable Development (ESD) for 2030 (UNGA, 2020), and the Framework for the Implementation of the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE) Strategy for ESD from 2021 to 2030 (UNECE, 2022a) continue to strengthen policy levers and extend the role of education and learning in advancing change towards a sustainable future.

The Berlin Declaration on ESD (UNESCO, 2021a) notably recognises that education and learning are fundamental not only to achieving SDG 4 on quality education, but also acting as anchors for the rest of the SDGs. This is best understood through the approach promoted by LfS, which seeks to engage people and communities in life and learning processes that help them envision and transition towards a more sustainable world. Keywords that are commonly used to define LfS are: participative, interdisciplinary, iterative, lifelong, futures-oriented, and values-based (Sterling, 2014). The Council of the EU (2022b) describes it as the:

"learning and teaching we need for personal, societal and environmental wellbeing now and in the future. It can be understood as an umbrella under which all subjects and disciplines have a contribution to make. Learners need to understand the interconnectedness of economic, social and natural systems and



move from awareness to individual and collective action and empowerment." (p.8)

Transforming education and learning

LfS seeks to change the way we view learning content, outcomes, pedagogy, learning environments and assessment (UNESCO, 2020). It employs learning approaches that promote emancipatory pedagogical strategies, such as critically reflective thinking, systems thinking, participatory learning and interdisciplinary learning, but also more disruptive learning pedagogies, such as futures thinking, place-based learning, transformative learning, and learning for action (Sterling, 2012; Tilbury, 2011; Tilbury & Wortman, 2004). These pedagogies are needed to enable people to develop the capabilities necessary to effectively address issues such as climate change. They challenge the traditional teacher-student relationship, and call on educators to rethink the learning dynamic. LfS requires that we move beyond adding content to the curriculum and questioning pedagogical practices, to shifting educational principles and pedagogical approaches so that they are more learner-centred and learner-driven. Research confirms that the latter is not yet common practice in education (Reid et al., 2021). These educational perspectives are also advocated by other 'new' cross-cutting educational priorities such as digital education and media literacy. LfS differs from these, however, in that it engages the learner in clarifying values, creating a vision and taking action for a better future.

More than three decades of research attest to the value of adopting a wholeinstitution/whole-school approach to taking LfS forward (Mogren et al., 2019). Such an approach helps to connect student learning with what is practised by the institution or school through its management, operations, procurement and outreach (Tilbury & Galvin, 2022). It also involves taking learning outside the classroom by engaging students in school decisions, community projects and global initiatives (Henderson & Tilbury, 2004).

Teacher education as the priority

The literature consistently suggests that although structures and processes differ between countries, teacher education is the most significant catalyst for introducing sustainability innovation and reshaping educational learning opportunities across the education system (Ferreira et al., 2009; Fischer et al., 2022; UNGA, 2020). Evidence confirms that teacher education has a positive impact on student sustainability learning (Andersson, 2017; Kadji-Beltran et al., 2014; Kostoulas-Makrakis, 2010) and increases teachers' motivation and willingness to embrace sustainability in their classrooms (Andersson et al., 2013). Ultimately, effective teacher education for sustainability is a key stepping stone for the green transition, as it translates directly into the development of sustainability competences of citizens – who can, in turn, advance the transition towards sustainable development (Fien & Maclean, 2000). It is for this reason that teacher education for sustainability is considered the 'priority of priorities' (UNESCO-UNEP, 1990).

In past years, there has been a clear increase in demand for initiatives that prepare teachers in LfS, and a growing perception that the process of embedding sustainability into teacher education is underway (Bourn et al., 2017). Evidence suggests that an increasing percentage of teacher education institutions worldwide are experimenting with how to integrate LfS into teacher education (McKeown & Hopkins, 2014; UNESCO, 2014). Notably, Fischer et al. (2022) undertook a recent review of the literature and found that there has been a rise in the amount of innovative research published in the area of teacher education for sustainability. This focuses on five types of enquiry: designing learning environments, understanding learner attributes, measuring learning outcomes, promoting systems



change and advancing visions in the field of teacher education for sustainability. This report will present some of the findings of this work by highlighting current practice and concerns in the field.

Despite progress having been made, the approach by which LfS has been integrated into Initial Teacher Education (ITE) and Continuing Professional Development (CPD), and the extent to which this has been achieved, have been questioned by many critical voices. Critics claim that sustainability learning remains an aspiration, rather than an experience that is commonly present in teacher education (Ferreira et al., 2009; Wals, 2009). Agreement exists within the international community that there is an urgent need to increase efforts, in order to position LfS away from the margins and into the mainstream (McKeown & Hopkins, 2015). According to Ferreira et al. (2007, 2012), this requires going beyond the simple addition of LfS into the curriculum and implies a wide-scale reorientation of the entire teacher education system towards sustainability. These authors advocate for a whole-of-system approach to teacher education that involves a deep, contextual understanding of the nature and process of change, which should lead to LfS becoming an integral part of policies, core curriculum and everyday pedagogical activities.

Whereas at the institutional level we can find promising case studies of schools and teacher education institutions adopting whole-school approaches to sustainability (see Mathie & Wals, 2022), only a handful of initiatives currently address change across the wider education system. The most promising effort to date comes from Australia. The 'Embedding Change Model' (Ferreira et al., 2019) has been piloted in numerous teacher education institutions, and has demonstrated change for sustainability within and across the education system. Ferreira et al. (2007) justify the absence of these types of approaches by pointing to the complex nature of the education system. This complexity necessitates a comprehensive understanding of the particular contexts within which teacher education operates, and the barriers that emerge when challenging the status quo.

The teacher education system

This research reviews the documented studies and initiatives relating to teacher education for sustainability; some of these are outlined above and help to identify avenues for the advancement of learning and education for sustainability in EU policy and practice. In researching and reviewing this work, it has become necessary to define the teacher education system and identify the multiple agencies and stakeholders involved (see Figure 1).

The authors of the report acknowledge that the components of the system will vary between EU Member States, as every country (and region) will possess its own distinctive structures, processes and practices. However, significant commonalities do exist, and these enable the authors to map the system in ways that are relevant across the European region. This map can help policymakers address the needs of diverse stakeholders, identify gatekeepers that can influence teacher education practice, and define the catalytic entry points (shown in *italics*) to the teacher education system. In this study, we refer to catalytic



entry points as focal points at which actions have been shown to have a ripple effect across the system. These are further described in Chapter 5.



Figure 1. Teacher education system and catalytic entry points for mainstreaming LfS

Those engaged in mainstreaming LfS in teacher education are encouraged to map their own system, perhaps using Figure 1 as a guide. The map could be adapted to highlight the key influencers in the system, depicting their relationships using thin or bold lines. Equally, components of the system could be moved around the map to denote how central they are in determining the provision of teacher education; the latter will vary between countries and sometimes at sub-regional level.



Chapter 2. Scope and methodology

Aim and scope

The overall aim of this analytical paper is to review documented research and good practice relating to effective teacher education for sustainability, with the purpose of informing policy decision-making and frameworks in this area. Particular attention is paid to identifying enablers and obstacles.

The research focuses its attention on teacher education and development as it relates to primary and secondary school teachers. It extends its review to the development of teachers' competences in relation to LfS, with a special emphasis on identifying supportive policies, frameworks and resources that can easily be used and scaled up by EU Member States.

Case studies, primarily from Europe, have been selected to showcase efforts relating to governance, quality frameworks, teaching standards, implementation mechanisms, networks and support initiatives that advance the embedding of sustainability in teacher education (see Appendix 1). These case studies were not chosen to represent best practices, but as examples that can help illustrate different entry points into the teacher education system, and which could potentially effect positive change in teacher education for sustainability.

This chapter describes the objectives and methodological approaches of the study. A snapshot of current policy and practices relating to teacher education in LfS is provided in Chapter 3. Chapters 4 and 5 describe the professional development opportunities and catalytic entry points that could transform teacher education, enabling it to contribute to the green transition. Lastly, a set of recommendations is proposed that builds upon the key messages arising from this review and considers the diversity of actors engaged in the teacher education system.

Research methodology

The findings and recommendations of this report have been drawn from a literature review based on two main types of source material. First, the authors examined a selection of recently published scholarly articles in journals addressing LfS issues and themes. Second, they collected key evidence from recent reports, policy documents and position papers published by the European Commission, UNESCO, UNECE, and OECD.

To identify peer-reviewed papers that discuss LfS practices in school and teacher education, several searches were performed using the Education Resources Information Center (ERIC) and Google Scholar databases. These search engines were selected after careful review and consideration. An initial screening of the literature included a general search of the titles, abstracts and keywords of journal articles using terms such as 'teacher education' OR 'teacher training' AND 'learning for sustainab*' OR 'education for sustainab*' OR 'environmental education'. To narrow down the search and to research particular sections of the report, more specific keywords were used ('schools' AND 'sustainab*'; 'whole school approach' AND 'sustainab*'; 'continu* professional development' AND 'teacher' AND 'sustainab*'; 'principal' AND 'sustainab*'; 'teacher educator' OR 'teacher trainer' AND 'sustainab*'; etc.). In addition, other references and papers were included through citation chasing. Articles were selected by taking into consideration their quality and contribution to assessing, critiquing and synthesising key literature. Certain articles describing particular case studies were also selected to illustrate key points of importance.



All of the articles selected have enabled the authors to describe key perspectives within the area and to identify future pathways, rather than merely describing the literature available in the field.

The report has been guided and informed by the experience of the authors, who have expertise in the areas of teacher education and sustainable development and have been engaged in informing policy frameworks and practices for more than three decades. Their knowledge and experience have guided the selection of publications and ensured that the review is comprehensive. The Key Informant Group (KIG) has played an important role in identifying any blind spots the authors may bring to the study, and in checking the validity of the research and experiences presented. Members of the KIG were consulted at the start of this research, when the authors sought their advice on the framing of the study, as well as in the selection of case studies. These informants also provided a peer review of the final report.

In addition, the work was guided by the European Commission contact points Ulrike Pisiotis and Deirdre Hodson, as well as Hanna Siarova from PPMI. The authors are grateful to them as well as to the members of the KIG (see Appendix 2) and the key contact points for the case studies (see Appendix 3), who were also consulted. Thanks are also extended to the members of the School Learning for Sustainability Working Group, which met in Budapest in November 2022 to discuss the findings presented in this report.

Limitations

The findings of this study should be viewed in the light of certain limitations:

- The report primarily focuses on, although it is not limited to, Europe. This means that some relevant peer-reviewed literature and examples of good practice from outside Europe may not have been included.
- The findings of the paper are primarily based on secondary data accessed through a literature review. Thus, the authors' subjectivities in the interpretation of other authors' work must be recognised. Collecting primary data – for example, through interviews – would have helped the authors to provide a more accurate or detailed description of practices in teacher education for sustainability.
- Due to time limitations, only two databases were screened, and only a selected number of papers were reviewed in-depth.
- Although more than 200 languages are spoken in Europe, given the scope of the study, publications mostly in English were considered.
- At the time the study was conducted, new initiatives were taking root, such as the first funded Erasmus+ Teacher Academies – three of which focus on teacher competences related to sustainability. The authors acknowledge that in a few years, richer data will be available from these examples.

Key Informant Group

The KIG was set up at the beginning of the review to:

- help frame the study and define its boundaries;
- identify key literature and case studies;
- review and provide feedback on the first draft version of the report; and



• validate findings and help formulate recommendations.

The experts that comprise this KIG are mostly based in Europe and have been selected for their first-hand knowledge and expertise in teacher education, professional learning and/or sustainability (see Annex 2). Efforts were made to recruit a diverse group with experience from across government, university, school and NGO sectors, as well as to provide wide geographical representation across Europe. An international expert from Australia was also included, given her invaluable international expertise and unique perspective on the topic covered. The members of the KIG were asked to participate in an online meeting in July 2022, during which the study was presented and its key ideas discussed. Online communication was then maintained throughout the writing process and the written reviews of KIG members informed the final version of the report.



Chapter 3. What *is*: an overview of LfS experiences in schools and teacher education

Overview of current school experiences

This section provides an overview of the environment currently faced by teachers in relation to LfS. It is important to understand this context when considering the provision and experiences of teacher education, as there is a dialectical relationship between school practices and teacher education outcomes.

Multiple international efforts (e.g. the UN Decade of Education for Sustainable Development [DESD]) have influenced the development of national policies on LfS (Clayson, 2013; Mulà & Tilbury, 2009, 2011; UNESCO, 2014). In addition, social movements have questioned the purpose and practices of educational institutions in times of climate emergency (Kvamme et al., 2022). For example, the Friday for Futures movement and school strikes have seen students calling for a rethink of curriculum priorities and the embedding of climate learning opportunities (Lotz-Sisitka & Rosenberg, 2022).

A recent European study reveals that although LfS has not yet become a priority focus in education, its coverage, scope and depth have improved significantly over recent years (Mulvik et al., 2021). However, the research has detected great variation in the ways in which LfS is addressed by national policies and practised in schools across the region. This implies that learners have diverse and unequal experiences depending on the country in which they are educated or the school they attend. As a result of these factors, their learning and ability to address sustainability will vary (European Commission, 2022b).

The research of Mulvik et al. (2021) points to approximately one-third of EU Member States favouring an interdisciplinary approach to LfS in primary and secondary education. These authors§ also highlight that over half of EU countries have defined competence frameworks or learner outcomes to frame their goals and experiences in relation to sustainability. Meanwhile, only a small number view the curriculum as an important component of a whole-school approach to sustainability. This could be explained by the realisation that embedding sustainability into the culture of a school is a complex endeavour (Gough et al., 2020) that requires committed educational leadership teams (Mogren & Gericke, 2016, 2019). Another explanation might be that curriculum content is determined at a central level, while whole-school approaches are driven by actors internal to the school.

As a general trend, primary education schools appear more open and less constrained in engaging with innovative interdisciplinary sustainability practices. Secondary schools, meanwhile, appear to be better positioned to more deeply explore fundamental questions regarding the social structures and agency we require for a green transition (European Commission, 2022b). However, the structuring of curricula around single subjects, especially in secondary education, appears to be a key obstacle to further embedding the interdisciplinary nature of LfS that is advocated in policy documents (Annan-Diab & Molinari, 2017). Cross-cutting sustainability themes are usually approached via selected subjects, or delivered as separate ones. Frequently, sustainability issues feature in geography or natural science subjects, but in an increasing number of EU countries they are included in transdisciplinary areas such as citizenship or outdoor learning (UNESCO, 2021b).

Learner-centred and action-focused learning opportunities, including participation in action projects and other active pedagogies, are seen as key to the delivery of LfS in school



curricula. These pedagogical approaches engage learners in group discussions and critical reflection, but also in more hands-on activities that help them to connect what they learn with real-life issues, and to understand the impact of actions in the community (Concina, 2019). There is little evidence that such learning approaches are common practice. Equally, the findings from several curriculum reviews (UNESCO, 2019, 2021b) confirm that greater emphasis is given to the cognitive domain of sustainability in comparison to its socio-emotional and action domains. This appears to be accentuated progressively from pre-primary to upper-secondary education.

As Scott & Gough (2003) suggest, educational processes that only raise awareness and focus mainly on understanding concepts and risks are not appropriate to engage learners in sustainability. Hoffman (2021) alerts us that problem-oriented learning can have negative psychological impacts on students, including anxiety and apathy regarding change. A focus on cognitive and technical aspects is associated with learning 'about' sustainable development, which tends to favour transmissive pedagogies (Sterling, 2014). These are not compatible with the type of deeper, critical, emotional and embodied education associated with learning 'for' sustainability. Most frequently, it is only individual champions and some eco-schools that take the lead in considering more transformative forms of learning. This is no surprise, as most teachers have not been trained to design, facilitate and assess learning experiences of this nature (Bourn & Soysal, 2021).

Generally, there is wide recognition of how eco-programmes, student clubs, competitions and annual sustainability or environment weeks help complement curriculum learning. Extra-curricular activities, often carried out in partnership with NGOs and other local community actors, are seen as powerful in raising the interest and engagement of learners and school staff (Rushton & Batchelder, 2020) and, in particular, involving students in decision-making processes within schools (Cincera and Krajhanzl, 2013). The evidence also suggests that LfS projects are more likely to take place and be successful in contexts where schools have greater autonomy to secure the interests of families and the participation of community stakeholders in school initiatives (Benavot, 2014).

According to Lotz-Sisitka & Rosenberg (2022), policy with regard to education for sustainability should be seen as a learning process in and of itself, and should be open to ongoing reflection and review. The reality is that there is a lack of assessment frameworks facilitated by governments to help understand which practices are effective, evidencebased, and worth scaling up (Reid, 2018). Without such frameworks, schools and teachers are left without a compass to quide their actions. They may also perceive LfS as not being a strategic priority. In many cases, interested schools and teachers use assessment tools provided by external actors who are trying to fill the existing gap (e.g. 'Green Flag', 'Jump into Sustainable Lifestyle self-assessment tool', 'ENSI Quality Criteria for ESD-schools', etc.). According to Benavot (2014), expecting local schools to assume this responsibility makes no sense, and only increases disparities between schools and unequal opportunities for learners. In addition, these tools are useful for measuring the progress of implementation at school level. At classroom level, little support is provided to teachers willing to assess sustainability learning outcomes, including those relating to emotions and agency or interdisciplinary topics, which require alternative assessment methods. Assessing learners' sustainability competences is important to avoid perpetuating practices that address sustainability superficially or do not offer real value or have a real impact on students' sustainability learning (Cebrián et al., 2020; Mulà et al., 2022; Wiek & Redman, 2022).

Overall, the literature review carried out for this report suggests that while there is a clear political commitment to reorienting school curricula towards sustainability, LfS practice in schools tends to be inconsistent and uncoordinated. Moreover, due to the lack of status



given to sustainability in curricula, and the emphasis on exam performance which gives preference to traditional pedagogical approaches, the implementation of learning for sustainability hinges on the motivation of and support from many different actors and institutions. No alignment exists across the system, and thus school teachers and leaders are required to look at, think about, reimagine and shape educational practices in the light of sustainability and the structures that exist in schools. Various authors have noted a tendency to frame LfS conservatively, and an absence of exciting opportunities to learn 'for', rather than 'about' sustainability (Glackin & King, 2020; Stevenson, 2007). However, it is important to note that new and positive practices are emerging that demonstrate the need to continue rethinking curriculum plans, reviewing funding priorities, and better equipping educational practitioners to challenge current practices (Aikens & McKenzie, 2021).

Overview of current teacher education experiences

Teachers are ideally placed to mainstream LfS, but many of them lack the insights, confidence, experience and/or support to facilitate learning in this area. Others lack the motivation and/or enthusiasm to do so (Bürgener & Barth, 2018). A recent study explored teachers' readiness for sustainability education, considering their motivations, skills and opportunities to support the development of learners' sustainability competences (UNESCO & Education International, 2021). Based on the responses of over 58,000 teachers globally, the study demonstrates that although teachers are generally aware and committed to teaching for sustainability, a quarter of them do not feel ready. This lack of preparedness has also been detected in pre-service teacher education. Dahl (2019) reports that although the majority of the 578 students surveyed from seven higher education institutions felt well prepared for work as qualified teachers, they expressed concerns about their ability to teach sustainability. These findings have direct implications for the expectations and requirements set for teachers, as well as on how they are prepared, accredited and encouraged throughout their professional careers.

To begin with, although sustainability might feature in school curricula, LfS is not a mandated component of teacher education in most countries (UNESCO, 2014). It can therefore be easily overlooked, as evidenced by key studies and position papers in this area. For example, the 2016 Global Education Monitoring (GEM) Report highlighted little progress towards the integration of LfS into teacher education in UN member states, from 2 per cent in 2005 to 8 per cent in 2013 (UNESCO, 2016). In the EU, at the present time, available data show that many Member States have included sustainability into teacher education, but mostly as an elective offering in initial education (Mulvik et al., 2021); teachers are rarely requested to engage in professional development in this area. In countries or regions where this is a requirement, the training tends to cover specific aspects of sustainability in the curriculum, leaving more in-depth preparation as a personal choice (Mulvik et al., 2021). A few exceptions exist, in which LfS is included or embedded into the professional teacher competence frameworks or standards that teachers are expected to meet. Thus, in the majority of Member States, LfS is not yet considered an important dimension of effective or quality teaching.

Moreover, research shows that current LfS efforts in teacher education tend to be isolated and fragmented, instead of mainstreamed into existing teachers' professional learning programmes or day-to-day practice. As Evans (2017) describes, in ITE, learning for sustainability takes place as one-off curriculum development projects and occurs primarily in geography and science courses. Any steps forward are usually taken by champions of a discipline who feel a personal commitment and sense of duty to create opportunities within the curriculum for students to learn for sustainability (Bronwyn et al., 2016). Similarly, CPD is often characterised by theoretical, one-time, decontextualised sessions for groups



of individual teachers seeking to improve their teaching practice (Boeve-de Pauw et al., 2022). Darling-Hammond et al. (2009) demonstrate that this type of training has little or no impact on the improvement of teaching or student learning.

There is a proposal to shift the focus of teacher education from individual capacity building to organisational learning, in the context of sustainability (Mulà et al., 2017). Teacher education too often centres on learning how to integrate sustainability into individual subjects that relate to social and environmental studies, rather than using interdisciplinary approaches and addressing it as a whole-school experience (Timm & Barth, 2020). A clear example of this is in teachers' initial training, where sustainability is very rarely included in courses on educational leadership, psychology or sociology– thereby neglecting the potential for its school-wide implementation (European Commission, 2022b). In CPD programmes, teachers might be taught about the need to connect sustainability in different subject areas, but without any practical opportunities to understand what an interdisciplinary approach looks like in practice, and how it depends on the quality and dynamics of school-teacher collaboration and teamwork (Nórden, 2016).

In addition, pre- and in-service teachers often lack the confidence to connect curriculum requirements with practical learning opportunities on school grounds, gardens or facilities. This is unsurprising, given that during training, many students do not have the experience of creating LfS opportunities in practice during school practicums or placements, due to the lack of mentors or educators with LfS experience (Robertson et al., 2020). This is an important issue that must be addressed, as a lack of alignment between the motivations, enthusiasm and intentions of pre-service teachers, and the visions and practices of their placement schools and mentors, can have a negative effect on the development of sustainability practices among early-career teachers (Barnes et al., 2021; Buchanan, 2012; Ormond et al., 2014). Practice-based learning has also been identified as critical when designing CPD programmes. Such learning requires the planning of intensive, longterm engagement initiatives in which teachers, with support from their school leaders, can work in teams to implement their specific action plans (Redman et al., 2018). Promising examples of CPD programmes in sustainability that include sophisticated action learning and solutions-based approaches have recently been published in the literature (e.g. Boevede Pauw et al., 2022; Bürgener & Barth, 2018; Redman et al., 2018). The studies demonstrate positive results in relation to the improvement of teachers' self-efficacy and practices in LfS.

Studies show evidence of how sustainability is best developed in schools when teachers have experienced LfS during their professional learning journeys (Boeve-de Pauw et al., 2015; Olsson et al., 2022). They also confirm that giving insufficient emphasis to sustainability during ITE results in lower rates of participation in LfS-related CPD (Mulvik et al., 2021). These are important points, because the implementation of sustainability in schools is highly dependent upon teachers who are currently in service (Redman et al., 2018), and therefore on their previous experience and willingness to continue learning in this area. Furthermore, Popova et al. (2016) remind us of the importance of supporting early-career teachers, as teachers appear to experience the most significant improvements in their teaching skills during the first five years.

One positive finding from a recent study is that most teachers feel a desire to continue learning about sustainability through professional development (UNESCO & Education International, 2021). Although they are aware that opportunities in this area exist in their countries, they recognise that they have not taken these up. Thus, it is important to assess what prevents teachers from engaging in sustainability training (e.g. access to, or the cost, quality or attractiveness of CPD programmes) as well as whether and how they are incentivised and recognised. Regarding the latter, research indicates that including LfS into



CPD as part of teachers' career progression and promotion paths is important in order to advance the sustainability agenda in schools, as well as to evaluate the use of time and school schedules to increase opportunities for professional learning and collaboration (Darling-Hammond et al., 2017; OECD, 2019a). The teacher education literature also shows that professional development is best achieved when schools possess CPD plans (Motiejūnaitė-Schulmeister et al., 2021) and school leaders encourage their staff to participate in training that is specifically linked to school needs and developments (OECD, 2019b). Thus, CPD in sustainability is partly conditioned by the commitment of educational leadership teams to mainstreaming LfS across the school and creating a culture of sustainability (Kadji-Beltran et al., 2013, 2017; Mogren & Gericke, 2019). Hence, the training of school leaders must be considered (Cebrián et al., 2022; Zachariou et al., 2013), though it is currently not a priority (European Commission et al., 2018).

Another critical area identified in the literature is a lack of pedagogical resources to help teachers perform their practice more effectively. Plenty of resources and materials are available online, but direct support for schools and teachers is especially needed to critically assess and identify those age-appropriate materials that can influence sustainability education and quality learning outcomes. To fill the gap in support, multilateral organisations, NGOs and researchers have developed resources for schools and teachers (e.g. 'TeachSDGs', 'Sustainable Development Goals – Resources for educators', etc.). However, without active teacher professional learning, these resources, which are mostly content-rich and available in English, are unlikely to have an impact on school practice (Kwauk & Iyengar, 2021).

Lastly, one cannot forget the role that teacher educators play in supporting and improving the quality of teaching (Liston et al., 2008). Teacher educators guide teachers at all stages of their careers, model good practice, and engage in research that enables a better understanding of teaching and learning (European Commission, 2012). In some countries, teacher educators – particularly those working in higher education institutions – are in a unique position to influence educational policy, research and practice. They can also influence a whole-of-sector approach in sustainability, and mobilise networks and key stakeholder groups (Huang et al., 2022) – yet some countries often neglect to identify this group at policy level, or fail to get them the professional development support they need (European Commission, 2013).

Across the EU, there is increasing recognition of the need to define teacher educators' competences and to better support their recruitment and selection as well as their professional learning and accreditation. This can be extended to sustainability, as there is a need to build teacher educators' capacities in LfS (Mulà et al., 2017). As yet, however, few countries have effective professional development frameworks to support and guide teacher educators in sustainability learning (Bourn et al., 2017; INEE, 2015).

In conclusion, it is important to note that teacher education operates within a system that extends from schools to policy level. Although all of the documentation reviewed stresses the critical teachers play in achieving sustainability goals and ambitions, this recognition must be accompanied by an awareness that the ultimate responsibility for change lies with the various components of the education system, and not on individual educators (Kwauk & Iyengar, 2021). As Day (2017) states, teachers have a responsibility to ensure they teach to the best of their abilities, but governments must enable societal changes across all sectors. Furthermore, the role of school leaders has been identified as being critical, as they can support a vision and culture of sustainability through their daily actions and decisions.



Chapter 4. What *could be***:** teachers for the green transition

Teacher competences in LfS

GreenComp, the EU reference framework for sustainability competences, maps out the knowledge, skills and attitudes that individuals need for the green transition. It sets out 12 competences, clustered into four areas (see Table 1) that are relevant for all learners, regardless of age, educational level and learning setting. The framework marks a shift away from what is *taught* (sustainability content) to what is *learned* (sustainability learning outcomes), and can serve a wide range of purposes, including the design of teacher education programmes, certification or assessment (Bianchi et al., 2022).

Table 1. GreenComp areas and competences

Areas	Competences
Embodying sustainability values	1.1 Valuing sustainability
	1.2 Supporting fairness
	1.3 Promoting nature
Embracing complexity in	2.1 Systems thinking
sustainability	2.2 Critical thinking
	2.3 Problem framing
Envisioning sustainable futures	3.1 Futures literacy
	3.2 Adaptability
	3.3 Exploratory thinking
Acting for sustainability	4.1 Political agency
	4.2 Collective action
	4.3 Individual initiative

Note: adapted from Bianchi et al. (2022)

The debate over professional teacher competences in LfS features prominently in both educational theory and research (Bürgener and Barth, 2018). Significant efforts have been made to define LfS competences in recent years; many of these seek to guide the professional development of educators.

One of the first frameworks released was developed as part of a European project led by the Environment and School Initiatives (ENSI), in which teachers were perceived as individuals, citizens and members of an educational institution (see Sleurs, 2008). Some years later, in response to the UN Decade of Education for Sustainable Development (DESD), UNECE (2012) launched its competence framework for educators, which has greatly influenced the debate and subsequent work around LfS competences. New models have been published later as part of research efforts that offered complementary perspectives (Bertschy et al., 2013, Cebrián & Junyent, 2014; Rauch & Steiner, 2013), and which built upon widely accepted learner competences (e.g. Wiek et al. 2011; Rieckmann, 2018; UNESCO, 2017). The competence palette developed by the partners in the 'Rounder Sense of Purpose' project (Vare et al., 2019) tries to simplify and operationalise the UNECE competences, and has been used in various teacher education contexts to build teachers' understanding and practice in LfS. The latest effort is that of Timm & Barth (2020), who propose different types of teacher competence profiles. The various contributions and the differences between them are documented in Table 2 below.



Table 2. LfS teacher competence frameworks

Frameworks	Description
Competencies for ESD teachers (CSCT) Model (Sleurs, 2008)	 Developed by a European group of education experts working in 15 teacher education institutions. Three overall competences: <i>teaching, reflecting/visioning</i> and <i>networking.</i> Five competence domains: <i>knowledge, systems thinking, emotions, ethics and values, and action.</i> Provides a holistic and complex view of a teacher who is an individual, a citizen and a member of a school.
UNECE ESD Competence Framework (UNECE, 2012)	 Developed by the 'Expert Group on Competences for ESD' to support the professional development of educators. A set of 39 competences gathered under three essential characteristics: <i>holistic understanding, envisioning change, and achieving transformation.</i> Four pillars of education, as defined by Delors et al. (1996): <i>learning to know, learning to do, learning to be, and learning to live together.</i> The clustering of competences using Delors (1996) presents a meaningful set of categories that reflect a wide range of learning experiences.
ESD-specific Professional Action Competency of Teachers in Kindergarten and Primary School (Bertschy et al., 2013)	 A set of competences defined in the context of the research project ZMiLe. Serves the development of teacher education programmes and initiatives specifically for early childhood and primary education teachers. Proposes the consideration of aspects of motivation and volition as well as knowledge and ability. The framework helps to connect the debate about ESD competences with the broader discourse about teachers' professional competences.
The KOM-BiNE Competence for ESD in Teacher Education Model (Rauch & Steiner, 2013).	 An Austrian project, part of a large-scale EU project. Defines competences in relation to: <i>knowing</i>, <i>acting</i>, <i>valuing</i>, <i>feeling</i>, <i>communicating</i>, <i>reflecting</i>, <i>visioning</i>, <i>planning</i>, <i>organising</i> and <i>networking</i>. The framework places importance on teachers' feelings, actions and context.



ESD Professional Competences for Teachers (Cebrián & Junyent, 2014)	 A theoretical framework for teachers' professional competences in ESD. Eight key components: visioning future/alternative scenarios, contextualising, working and living with complexity, thinking critically, decision-making, participating and acting for change, clarifying values, establishing a dialogue between disciplines, and managing emotions and concerns. Complexity is the component underpinning the proposed framework.
UNESCO's Cross-cutting key competencies for achieving all SDGs (Rieckmann, 2018)	 Inspired by Wiek et al. (2011, 2015). Proposes eight competences: systems thinking; anticipatory, normative, strategic, collaborative and critical thinking; self-awareness, and integrated problem-solving. Builds upon one of the most widely accepted sustainability competence frameworks internationally.
Rounder Sense of Purpose (Vare et al., 2019)	 A framework developed by a group of European project partners, designed for all educators, working at any level, who wish to embed LfS. The framework includes 12 competences: systems, futures, participation, attentiveness, empathy, values, transdisciplinarity, creativity, action, criticality, responsibility and decisiveness. Competences have rich descriptions and are broken down into learning outcomes.
Timm and Barth (2021)	 A research study that proposes two types of teachers and considers their LfS competences: teachers who function as change agents by interacting with students (in-class teachers); and teachers who function as change agents by inciting institutional change (structure-oriented teachers). Recognises that both types of teachers are necessary when implementing change for sustainability in school settings.

These competence frameworks support the idea that teachers are not only the designers and facilitators of teaching and learning processes, but are also change agents within their educational institutions and the education system itself (Barth & Kater-Wettstädt, 2021). Teachers should be motivated and capable of understanding, interpreting and engaging with sustainability values and transformative pedagogies. They should feel confident about transcending boundaries (disciplines, learning spaces, settings, etc.) and dealing with



moral, ethical and wicked issues. They should also accept uncertainty, complexity, and unexpected outcomes (Wals, 2020). In addition, teachers should be able to adapt the curriculum, taking into account learners' needs, concerns and visions for the future, generating hope and enabling positive action and change.

The literature shows how these frameworks have been used in different contexts. For example, the CSCT competences (Sleurs, 2008) were piloted in more than 10 teacher education institutions as a model for designing and implementing courses. The UNECE competences inspired 11 out of the 32 national higher education institution professional development initiatives analysed by Mader et al. (2014). Bertschy et al. (2013) inspired Bürgener & Barth (2020) to design an open learning environment based on the idea of 'living labs' for student teachers studying at Lüneberg University (Germany). Experiences with the 'Rounder Sense of Purpose' competences have been recently published in a book (Vare et al., 2022). However, it is important to note that although guidelines and tools have been developed to support these frameworks, they have so far had little impact on mainstreaming teacher education practices. This may be due to their complexity and level of detail of the competences, which sometimes make them inoperable and difficult to assess in an already crowded teacher education curriculum (Vare, 2022).

Further efforts and research are needed to explore ways in which competences can be fully embraced and used by national agencies and institutions so that they can have an impact on teachers' professional development. This includes, for instance, how they can be included into quality systems and processes (e.g. institutional reviews, external evaluations, formative evaluation) as well as career progression and promotion plans, and how they can be used as the basis to design professional development plans and programmes. It is also important to study how these competences are developed through transformative pedagogies and (trans)formative assessment in different settings, including in online education (Mulà et al., 2022).

Although various scholars have criticised the competence frameworks as being too instrumentalist and market-oriented (Edwards, 2016), other experts – especially those from the global North – have reinforced the idea that sustainability and LfS competences are concerned with values and freedom (Brundiers et al., 2021; Shephard et al., 2019). Competence-based education has been widely endorsed because it is seen as a powerful starting point from which to leverage pedagogical transformation and stimulate changes in educational institutions (Sterling et al., 2017). A good example of this is the 'Digital Competence Framework for Educators (DigCompEdu)' (Redecker, 2017), which has been used in many teacher education programmes and has led to the development of SELFIE for Teachers – a self-reflection tool for teachers to reflect upon and measure their digital skills across six areas.

Nonetheless, as noted in a recent publication by UNESCO (2022a), the design of teacher education programmes should, in addition to the development of LfS competences, consider educational spaces in which teachers can develop qualities and values alongside abilities. Such a focus will help to move away from traditional, rigid views of education that privilege content development and are preoccupied with defining learning objectives and testable outcomes, towards more open conceptualisations of teaching and learning that are concerned with learning processes, local issues and values-based education (Wals et al., 2022).

Developing LfS competences through teacher education

In order for teachers to develop and mobilise these competences in LfS, countries and regions need to establish coherent educational systems that view teacher education



structures and policies as a continuum of teacher professional development (Musset, 2010), and embed LfS into all of a teacher's career stages. Systems that prioritise sustainability education in ITE recognise that initial training can help to lay the foundations for teaching quality. During ITE, teacher candidates should develop a solid basis of knowledge and skills that they will need in order to put sustainability learning into practice in schools and start constructing a professional identity in this area (Qi et al., 2021). However, expecting pre-service teachers to be ready-made professionals after completing their initial training is not realistic (OECD, 2019a, 2019b). Instead, education systems must create continuous learning structures and conditions for teachers to continue learning and growing as LfS practitioners from their first days in school and throughout their professional careers. CPD is vital for teachers to share experiences with their peers and broaden their perspectives, as well as keeping up to date with research, tools and practices (OECD, 2017) – especially with regard to a fairly new and changing field such as LfS.

Teacher education research has established that teachers need time to develop competences and embrace new practices. Most studies have concluded that CPD which involves substantial contact hours over a long period of time are more effective (Darling-Hammond et al., 2009). In addition, teachers learn most effectively when the programme is content-focused, uses active learning, supports collaboration, is school-based, uses modelling of effective practice, provides mentoring support, and offers opportunities for feedback and reflection (Darling-Hammond et al., 2017). The practice-based reflective practicient approach is also relevant for ITE programmes to address the theory-practice divide (Cheng et al., 2010).

The above findings are useful for the design of teacher education programmes in LfS. However, they take a reductionist or cause-and-effect approach, assuming that by offering programmes based on these design principles, teachers will automatically develop key LfS competences and change their practice. According to Opfer & Pedder (2011), it is difficult to generalise about what works best in teacher education, as learning depends not only on teacher education initiatives, but also on the uniqueness of the participants, the moment at which the programme takes place, the context, and more.

Thus, designing teacher education with LfS competences in mind implies the need to recognise that there is no one set 'recipe' that will serve everyone, everywhere. Instead, it requires a systems thinking approach that considers micro contexts (individual teachers or teacher candidates and programmes), meso contexts (institutions), and macro contexts (education and social system) (Opfer & Pedder, 2011). Figure 2 attempts to capture some of these complex interactions within teacher education.

Figure 2. Professional learning contexts





Note: adapted from Réti (2022)

Pre-service and in-service teachers have different motivations, commitments, starting points and previous experiences with regard to sustainability. Research in this area emphasises the need for flexible and personalised paths, as teacher education is not a linear process, but rather a chaotic one (Strom & Viesca, 2020) that involves working with non-traditional actors within teacher education such as researchers in higher education faculties, environmental NGOs, media literacy organisations, youth groups, etc. Different ranges of learning opportunities, such as those illustrated in Figure 2 and further elaborated in Table 3, can contribute to supporting the development of pre- and in-service teachers' competences in LfS. As previously mentioned, these should be understood as part of a complex system that requires careful analysis.



Table 3. Learning opportunities that can support the development of pre- and in-service teachers' LfS competences

Learning opportunities	What do these opportunities look like in practice?
Structured learning	 Structured learning can be theoretical, although active methodologies may be used depending on issues such as time, space or number of participants. Learning can take place online or face-to-face, and usually leads to an attendance certificate or contributes to attaining a wider educational certificate. Can take the form of a module, seminar or a workshop for teachers or teacher candidates.
Un-structured/self- directed learning	 Involves personal and individual engagement on the part of teachers or candidates. Can include activities such as listening to podcasts; engaging in conversations marked with hashtags; keeping up with educational news through media, social media, etc.; liaising with education experts; engaging in online education courses, communities or networks, etc.
School-based learning	 Learning takes place in the school and allows a greater focus on the actual contexts and needs of teachers/teacher candidates, students or their schools. Can include methodologies such as: Mentoring: a more experienced teacher supervises an early-career teacher or teacher candidate, and provides guidance and assistance relating to the profession and workplace. Peer observation: teachers observe each other and reflect upon their own practice. They can share good practices and provide feedback to one another. This could also take place through micro-teaching in ITE. Shadowing: one teacher follows another over a period of time. This can support novice teachers in understanding how a school works, and what it means to be an educator who takes on LfS.
Peer group exchange	 Supports exchange between teachers and/or teacher candidates from different schools or educational institutions. Allows the sharing of LfS practices and the provision of feedback to one another. Can occur in the context of the teaching practicum, including, for example, joint reflection through video-recorded lessons.
International exchange and networking	 Both pre- and in-service teachers have opportunities to visit, work or study in schools and educational centres in other countries – for example, through the eTwinning and Erasmus+programmes. Thus, once teachers and teacher candidates return home, they can introduce what they have learned into their own classrooms and assignments. In ITE, Collaborative Online International Learning (COIL) experiences are now more common. These types of initiatives bring teacher students and teacher educators together across cultures to learn, discuss and collaborate.



Community-based learning	 Refers to a wide variety of initiatives and methods used to enable teachers and student teachers to connect what is being taught in schools with their surrounding communities, including local institutions, history, literature, cultural heritage and natural environments. Community-based learning is also motivated by the belief that all communities have intrinsic educational assets and resources that educators can use to enhance learning experiences for students.
Action learning	 Enables teachers and teacher educators to explore their practice or a school situation more deeply, in order to understand and improve the quality of learning processes. Empowers practitioners with new knowledge and understanding about how to embed sustainability into school and classroom practices through a participatory approach.
Participatory action research or systemic collaborative inquiry	 Refers to a systematic co-learning process in which a group of teachers investigate their professional practice using classroom-based information, students' responses to learning, literature, and shared experiences. Provokes deep critical reflection, and leads to new understandings and practical responses.

Note: adapted from Réti (2022) and Merlo (2022)

Key challenges and questions for future practice

The present review of literature regarding current LfS experiences in school and teacher education gives rise to a number of questions that need to be addressed if we are to learn our way to a greener and sustainable future. These questions have guided the selection of case studies, catalytic points and recommendations identified in the coming chapters of this report:

Q1. How can teacher education contribute to reorientating education to assist with the green transition?

Q2. What policy and structural conditions facilitate these shifts in teacher education, which in turn help to mainstream sustainability in education?

Q3. How can we better align national and regional policy ambitions with practical experiences on the ground? What tools can assist with this task?

Q4. What type of partnerships and networks are needed to enable this alignment to occur?

Q5. How are LfS competences best developed in ITE and through CPD?

Q6. What existing teacher education opportunities serve the needs of LfS?

Q7. What processes and resources have been effective in mainstreaming LfS in teacher education?

Q8. How can professional learning opportunities in sustainability be embedded into the continuum of teacher education?

Q9. How can we excite and motivate teachers to embed LfS into their practice?



Chapter 5. Changing teacher education: catalytic entry points

There is no magical framework or policy mix that can be applied in every situation or context. This is why, in this section, we propose a series of catalytic points and actions that can provide some of the core pathways for changing the provision and mainstreaming of LfS in teacher education. The catalytic entry points and actions identified have emerged from the literature review, and in response to the questions that arose from it.

It is worth noting that:

- The catalytic entry points should not be considered in isolation; the way in which they interact with the components of the teacher education system is important when considering strategies or actions to advance LfS.
- Not all of these leverage points will apply equally in all countries, as this will depend on the policy context, teacher education structures, and on the current opportunities available to advance this agenda.
- To better understand the catalytic points proposed, each one is illustrated with at least one case study, which can be accessed via Appendix 1. A full collection of the case is presented in a separate document entitled: '*Learning from thirty years of experience: Case studies in teacher education for sustainability'* (see Tilbury & Mulà, 2023).

LfS as a political and policy commitment

- 1. Political commitment and leadership at the highest levels have proven to be catalytic in the drive to change and embed LfS in teacher education.
- 2. The influence of international agencies and frameworks is visible, and provides a source of motivation for national bodies, teacher educators and teacher education providers as well as educators.
- 3. Policy development processes that are inclusive and seek dialogue with stakeholders have been shown to enhance the adoption of LfS practices in teacher education.
- 4. A connected or 'whole-of-government' approach to LfS increases the reach of policies. Similarly, aligning initiatives with national policy agendas or priorities is seen to increase the chances of success in embedding LfS in teacher education.
- 5. Creating spaces for mutual policy learning and review across the teacher education system can also prove catalytic, and can help the changes sought to take root.
- 6. Researchers should be seen as 'critical friends' and not just 'experts' in the policy implementation process, as they can play a role in strengthening the impact of teacher education policies.
- Political commitment: in Italy, acknowledgement at the highest levels of government that education and schools are critical to the green transition has served to motivate and drive numerous teacher development initiatives (see Case study 2). Evidence suggests that this is not unique to Italy, and that high-level leadership or championing of the agenda can have a catalytic impact – especially if efforts focus on providing a statement of purpose or offering a renewed vision for education (McKenzie & Benavot,



2022; UNESCO, 2014). The Italian case study documents how political commitment served to give purpose and clarify, and to motivate engagement. The statements of purpose were accompanied by relevant policy instruments and the allocation of over EUR 1 billion to 'RiGenerazione Scuola' which seeks to embed climate change education across school and teacher professional development.

If this level of commitment and leadership is sustained over time, then a deep and coherent response to sustainability in teacher education is possible. In Scotland, the government has placed LfS at the heart of education. Over the years, it has developed ways to inspire and motivate teachers to address it in schools (see Case study 5).

• **Calls from international agencies:** LfS has been consistently identified as a key policy priority by UNESCO (2020) and UNECE (2022a) and more recently by the European Commission (2022a) and the Council of the EU (2022b). These calls have translated into specific policy actions at national level, and resulted in investments in key initiatives.

For example, last year, the government of Romania made a commitment towards education for a green, digital and fairer society. It allocated a large amount of resources to the education and training of teachers. The President of Romania established the 'Working Group on Education for Climate and Environmental Changes', which brings together representatives of the President's Office, the Ministry of Education, the Ministry of the Environment, Waters and Forests, as well as education institutions, students, teachers, parents and NGOs. The Working Group released a report containing a series of proposals for 2022-2030 to support the introduction of climate change and environmental education into the Romanian educational system. The National Education Act was also amended to include environmental competences within primary and lower-secondary education, impacting the provision of initial training for teachers across the country.

• **International frameworks:** a key driver of national policies towards LfS is a desire to align with international frameworks and agreements (Aikens et al., 2016). National efforts have been catalysed in the past by the Rio Declaration and Agenda 21, the Kyoto protocol, and more recently by the 'Agenda 2030 for Sustainable Development'. Commitments to reducing carbon emissions and addressing the challenges of waste and biodiversity have also prompted a growth in the number of LfS policies.

In response to broader awareness and concern arising from international climate agreements as well as a social awakening to these international issues, the Spanish Ministry for Ecological Transition and Demographic Challenge joined forces with the Ministry for Education and Training to release a new strategy in early 2022. Under the plan, stakeholders from schools, field centres, teacher education and universities have re-energised and redirected resources towards learning for environmental sustainability. The strategy was developed via a collaborative process that helped to connect efforts, pool resources and strengthen perceptions of the policy among stakeholders.

Well documented in the literature is the impact of the Decade of Education for Sustainable Development (DESD) on national education policies and the inclusion of sustainability learning opportunities. DESD evaluations confirm its influence on national policies and its shaping of national dialogues in ESD (see UNESCO, 2014; Wals, 2009). It is important to note, however, that a few countries are reticent to generate national



responses to these global frameworks, perceiving them as global impositions or aligned with neo-liberal political discourses (González-Gaudiano, 2007).

- **Permission or justification:** the study also found that many current LfS policy efforts tend to be high-level, and may not be directed at or specific to teacher education. However, these overarching policies consistently provide motivation and justification for teacher education providers to develop LfS policies at an institutional level (see Cheeseman et al., 2019).
- **Policy development process:** the impacts of policy development processes in facilitating or hindering systems change for sustainability is widely recognised in the literature. Processes that bring stakeholders together increase cooperation and improve policy uptake (Van Poeck et al., 2014).

In Belgium, for example, the Flemish government led an engagement process during the DESD and concluded that the consultation platform that had been established was key to generating valuable dialogue regarding the purpose and outcomes of education. The latter is perceived to have increased the outreach and adoption of the strategy (Van Poeck et al., 2014).

- Alignment with other key policy agendas: in Australia, it was noted that there was
 resistance to the adoption of LfS due to the preoccupation of teacher educators and
 educators with priority mandates (Smith & Stevenson, 2017). Successful policy efforts
 have united policy agendas at a high level. For example, in Spain, the national
 government brought together resources for research and change associated with two
 policy priorities the digital and green transitions. This resulted in significant interest
 from teacher educators and researchers, who saw value in combining efforts in this
 area. This approach resolves the dilemma that teachers and teacher educators
 frequently face: choosing between implementing LfS, or responding to other competing
 education policies that usually receive greater priority (UNESCO, 2021b).
- Whole-of-government: LfS actions intersect with the role of several different government ministries and departments. It is therefore unsurprising to find that when national efforts link together several ministries and agencies, or adopt a whole-of-government approach, policy effectiveness increases (Morrison & Lane, 2005; UNESCO, 2020, 2021a). In Hungary, a collaborative effort between ministries and agencies helped to set national expectations and developed effective implementation mechanisms (see case study 5).
- Creating spaces for policy learning across the teacher education system: when spaces for interaction and learning are created for policymakers, teachers, researchers and students during policymaking, curriculum development and teacher education reforms, the depth of the changes and the success of the initiatives increases. Teachers move policy into practice (Summers, 2015); students bring their sustainability concerns and share their learning experiences outside school (see UNECE, 2022b); researchers support policymaking by providing context-based information (Rickinson & McKenzie, 2021).
- Policy research: a growing body of literature is investigating the relationship between research and policy in environmental and sustainability education (see Læssøe et al., 2013; Rickinson & McKenzie, 2021; Van Poeck & Lysgaard, 2015), which should be considered in order to strengthen the role of LfS in the development of teacher education policy. The material published stresses that LfS policy research should go beyond generating and using evidence to mobilise policy by providing rich descriptions



to develop locally relevant policies (Rickinson & McKenzie, 2021). Researchers should be seen as 'critical friends' in the policymaking processes, and not as 'experts', as usually occurs (Van Poeck & Lysgaard, 2015).

Professional competences and standards: driving quality throughout schools

- 1. Embedding LfS into teacher professional standards provides one of the most effective ways to mainstream sustainability and promote quality learning experiences. This is best achieved by integrating LfS into definitions of what it means to be a qualified and effective teacher.
- 2. Uptake is greater when professional standards and competences are seen through a developmental rather than a regulatory lens, and the process of defining them is driven/owned by the teaching profession.
- 3. Establishing expectations and pathways for teachers to develop competences in LfS during their careers is also an impactful way of embedding sustainability learning into schools.
- 4. Self-evaluation approaches can provide meaningful ways to engage teachers in improving their practice. Reflective practice questions can drive the development of teachers' capabilities in this area.
- 5. (Online) portfolios that encourage educators to collect evidence of their practice and reflect upon their developmental journey have been proven to help deepen the quality of LfS practices in schools.
- 6. To be effective, standards and competences in LfS need to be specific yet flexible. This is important in being able to suit the roles and expertise of various educational professionals such as special needs teachers, kindergarten teachers, subject teachers and others. Flexibility also offers opportunities for professional dialogue in the area of LfS.
- Setting expectations: many governments and regulatory bodies around the world have developed teacher competence frameworks or standards to regulate the teaching profession and ensure that all teachers are well prepared and ready to teach (McMahon, 2018). Establishing expectations and pathways for teachers to develop competences in LfS during their careers has proven to be an impactful way of embedding LfS into schools (see case studies 2 and 5).
- **Teacher competences:** teacher competences are statements describing what teachers should value, know, and be able to do. In the EU, 28 education systems use competence frameworks to define what a candidate teacher should have mastered by the end of ITE (European Commission, 2015).

The introduction of competence-based frameworks was initiated more than 20 years ago, but continues to spark controversial debates in education (Ferreira et al., 2006). However, in some contexts, these frameworks have triggered positive educational changes and have proved to be useful in helping teachers and teacher educators to understand what knowledge, skills and engagement opportunities are needed to create effective sustainability learning.

• **Professional standards:** these provide clarity of expectations, and support teachers in planning their professional learning and career development (Ingvarson, 2002).


Embedding LfS into teachers' professional standards provides one of the most effective ways to mainstream sustainability in schools. This is best achieved by embedding LfS into definitions of what it means to be a qualified and effective teacher.

One study analysed 103 teacher education programmes in Pakistan, before and after the integration of sustainability education into national accreditation standards for teacher education programmes. The study concluded that the change led to widespread adoption by teacher education institutions of education for sustainability concepts and practices (Mirza, 2015).

Scotland took the significant step of embedding LfS across its existing professional standards for teachers, irrespective of what point individuals are at in their professional career journey (see Case study 5). This development arose from a commitment to make LfS an entitlement for learners, and led to it becoming a professional requirement for all teachers registered in the country. Teachers in Scotland thus need to demonstrate that the professional values, skills, knowledge, understanding and actions in their practice are compatible with a sustainable world and part of an effective whole-school commitment.

- A whole-of-system approach to standards: the professional standards identified by the General Teaching Council of Scotland (GTCS) (2021, 2022) deepened the commitment to embed LfS across school-based and national professional development, professional recognition processes, as well as within ITE institutions (Christie et al., 2019). This was assisted by their whole-of-system outlook, with standards for 'Headship' and 'Middle Leadership' also being defined. Scotland places strategic responsibility on school leaders and managers "to establish and model a coherent, progressive and holistic LfS vision and ethos that supports planning across the curriculum, professional learning and collegial practice" (GTCS, 2021). Mirroring its holistic approach across the teacher education system, the Scottish standards call for school leaders to demonstrate a whole-school approach to LfS in their schools.
- Trustworthiness and ownership: standards and competence frameworks are most effective when they are trustworthy (McMahon, 2018) and specific yet flexible – this is possible thanks to the involvement of teachers and actors. If frameworks offer opportunities for adaptation (Ceulemans, 2017; Sachs, 2003) and professional dialogue (Clinton et al., 2016), they are more likely to be adopted. In LfS, this is also seen as important in suiting the roles and expertise of various educational professionals such as special needs teachers, kindergarten teachers, subject teachers and others.
- Engagement and development: come educators do not engage with standards or competency discourses, in the same way that they avoid teaching desired learning outcomes for learners (Coles et al., 2017), because they are ideologically opposed to having these predefined rather than arising out of educational processes (Bourke et al., 2018; Coles et al., 2017). Research indicates that uptake is greater when professional standards are viewed through a developmental lens rather than a regulatory one, and when the process of defining such standards or competencies involves ownership on the part of teacher and teacher education circles (see Darling-Hammond et al., 2013; Education International & UNESCO, 2019; Forde, 2016; Koster & Dengerink, 2008; Mahony & Hextall, 2000; Sachs, 2003).

It is also important to note that countries in the European Higher Education Area (EHEA) must have national/regional quality standards for accrediting teacher education programmes. These standards must be based on, or comply with, the European Standards and Guidelines (ESG) (see ENQA et al., 2015). The ESG does not include LfS



or sustainability issues (Junyent et al., 2017; Tilbury et al., 2019); thus, it is unsurprising that a study recently undertaken across the EHEA concluded that only one country, the UK, has included LfS in its national quality framework for higher education (Janssens et al., 2022). To a lesser extent, sustainability is also present in quality frameworks of Estonia, the Holy See, Romania, Sweden, Switzerland and Ukraine.

- Self-evaluation and reflective practice approaches: these techniques have been shown to be effective in engaging teachers to improve their practice (Crehan, 2016). Scotland's experience demonstrates how reflective practice questions can drive the development of teachers' capabilities in this area, as well as school improvements (GTCS, 2022). Equally, online portfolios in Hungary have served to encourage teachers and support staff to collect evidence of their practice and to reflect on their developmental journey – a process that has been helpful in the development of competences and the deepening of LfS practices in schools.
- **Career journey:** in Hungary, LfS is identified as a competence to be acquired and/or developed through the career progression process. This has encouraged teachers, as well as those who support the education journey in schools, to aspire to develop these abilities (see Case study 2). These competences are accompanied by indicators which help teachers to identify how to effectively respond to the call for evidence associated with demonstrating a particular competency (see Educational Authority of Hungary, 2019). The success of the Hungarian experience may also be attributed to the development of guidelines and advice tailored to each level of progression, specialist subject or area of practice (Réti et al., 2022). This has proved key to the effective engagement of teachers.

The prompt and positive response in Hungary to this initiative could be explained by the fact that one-third of educators in general education are part of an ESD network that has been in existence since 2000, and which uses quality criteria to drive sustainability learning work. This means that teachers already have experience of working with indicators, and are more likely to be responsive to this approach.

Also worth noting is that pre-service teachers are introduced to the e-portfolio and related competences during their initial teacher education courses. In addition, these competences and indicators have become a compulsory part of final examinations or output requirements for novice teachers.

Recognition and reward – incentivising and motivating teachers

- 1. Some awards recognise and celebrate best practices and outstanding teachers and/or teacher educators. These recognition schemes can incentivise educators to delve into or deepen their engagement with LfS.
- 2. There are also reward schemes that support teachers in collaborating rather than competing, by providing funding for educators. Such funding enables teachers to buy time in their busy schedules to grow collaborative projects and/or create pathways that support whole-of-institution approaches to LfS.
- 3. The inclusion of LfS criteria into role descriptors and position responsibilities has also been shown to be effective in upscaling sustainability learning efforts. It incentivises teachers and teacher educators to seek professional development in this area, and provides recognition of expertise in it.



- 4. Some recognition systems or approaches can cause stress for teachers rather than creating opportunities to learn. Formative tools that go beyond standard summative assessments, such as portfolios, classroom observations by peers or self-evaluation schemes are less daunting and better aligned with the (trans-)formative assessment practices that support LfS.
- Reward and celebrate: certain national and international organisations recognise and annually celebrate the leading practices of outstanding teachers and/or teacher educators. Some of these organisations reward innovative practice and attainment in LfS in schools, universities, and communities (e.g. the FEE Teacher Award for school teachers, Young Environmentalist Awards Mentor of the Year Award, Green Gown Awards). Other bodies recognise innovation in schools or institutions that contribute to sustainability (e.g. green school awards, higher education rankings such as 'GreenMetric' or 'Times Higher Education'). These recognition schemes can incentivise teachers and teacher educators to delve into or deepen their engagement with LfS. Recognition systems are particularly popular with mid-career teachers or those teachers in the late stages of their careers who are seeking new challenges to maintain their motivation. The professional learning needs of such teachers are often overlooked (Booth et al., 2021).
- Collaboration not competition: reward schemes also exist that support teacher collaboration rather than competition. For example, in the UK, the Quality Assurance Agency has offered grants to university teachers and teacher educators to buy time in their busy schedules to grow collaborative projects in LfS. AdvanceHE UK, meanwhile, has provided seed money to those interested in developing collaborative projects and pathways that support whole-of-institution approaches to LfS.
- **Teacher career aspirations:** the inclusion of LfS criteria into role descriptions and position responsibilities has been shown to be an effective means of upscaling sustainability education efforts (see Chimier & Tournier, 2019a; Ryan & Tilbury 2014). It incentivises teachers and teacher educators to seek professional development in this area (Crehan, 2016), and has proven to be an important strategic move at the University of Gloucestershire (UK), where the role descriptions for certain key positions contain requirements and responsibilities regarding LfS.

Both Scotland and Hungary expect teachers to demonstrate capabilities in the area of LfS as they progress through their careers. For example, to move from senior teacher to master teacher, a teacher should demonstrate a complex understanding and experience in LfS. Once the level of master teacher is achieved, the teacher should be able to engage in training that supports him/her to mentor other teachers, for instance. Other responsibilities could include developing in-service CPD courses on sustainability education; promoting communities of practice and peer-learning in LfS; engaging in participatory action research; and opening the classroom to other teachers to observe how sustainability education can come to life.

• Formative vs summative recognition approaches: teacher careers usually follow standardised summative assessments and use tools such as exams, inspections and student achievement records. These assessment methods tend to cause stress for teachers rather than opportunities to learn (Crehan, 2016). The alternative is to use formative tools outside of standard summative assessments, such as portfolios, classroom observations by peers or self-evaluation tools (Chimier & Tournier, 2019b). These methods are less threatening and are better aligned with the (trans-)formative assessment practices that support LfS.



Micro-credentials and the certification of learning

- 1. Micro-credentials provide a record of learning outcomes that have been acquired following a small volume of learning (Council of the EU, 2022a). Importantly, micro-credentials are owned by the learner, can be shared, and are portable. They are underpinned by quality assurance following agreed standards in the relevant sector or area of activity.
- 2. The Council of the EU has set out guidance for the use of micro-credentials across Europe, and acknowledges their potential for advancing the digital and green transitions. Micro-credentials provide new avenues and great potential to drive LfS in schools and teacher education in the near future.
- 3. Micro-credentials can be delivered by a variety of providers in formal, non-formal and informal settings, and could be included as part of ITE certification, thus assisting the reorientation of teacher education towards sustainability.
- 4. Experience of micro-credentials in teacher education so far indicates that they need to be inclusive and offer a palette of options for teachers so that they are motivated to engage with this professional development pathway.
- 5. Further experimentation is necessary on how to develop and use micro-credentials in LfS. The challenge is to prove micro-credentials that are flexible, relevant, and which offer equal opportunities for certifying professional competences so that such certifications are comparable and relevant across the EU Member States.
- Micro-credentials: these are an approach to professional learning that is growing in popularity around the world (UNESCO, 2022b), but which has so far remained relatively unexplored in the area of teacher education for sustainability. Micro-credentials offer a record of learning outcomes acquired following a small volume of learning (Council of the EU, 2022a). These outcomes are assessed against transparent and clearly defined criteria. Importantly, micro-credentials are owned by the learner, can be shared, and are portable. They are underpinned by quality assurance following agreed standards in the relevant sector or area of activity (Brauer & Korhonen, 2022). Micro-credentials can be standalone or may be combined to attain larger credentials. This pathway offers great potential and new avenues to drive LfS in schools and teacher education in the near future.
- Great potential: the Council of the EU (2022a) has set out guidance for the use of micro-credentials across Europe to ensure quality and transparency in their development, and to encourage their uptake across the EU. The Council acknowledges the potential of micro-credentials in advancing the digital and green transitions and has funded, via Erasmus+, various initiatives that explore pathways in this area. At the same time, it recognises the challenges involved in creating micro-credentials that are flexible, relevant, and which that offer equal opportunities for certifying professional competences (Brauer & Korhonen, 2022) so that such certifications are comparable and relevant across the Member States (UNESCO, 2022b).
- Certifying competences: micro-credentials can be delivered by a variety of providers in formal, non-formal and informal settings, and could be included as part of ITE certification, thus assisting the reorientation of teacher education towards sustainability. In the EU, a micro-credential must include a series of standard elements to guarantee its quality (see Council of the EU, 2022a). Typically, teachers earning a



micro-credential will demonstrate that they meet the assessment criteria, using what they have learned in the teaching or specific learning programme that is attached to the micro-credential. They will send evidence of their competence, which can include videos, critical reflections and other artefacts. Often, micro-credentials come with (open) digital badges, which are visual symbols or representations recognising their accomplishment. These are seen as powerful tools for teachers to construct their portfolios in a digital format, allowing them to display and make visible their professional (LfS) competences (Brauer & Korhonen, 2022).

• **Trial experiences:** some experiences from trials in the use of micro-credentials in teacher education show that they can motivate teachers to participate in professional development programmes and support them to identify their learning needs.

The Erasmus+ 'Teacher Academy for Sustainable Future Educators' (EduSTA) is creating digital badge-driven professional recognition pathways in which teachers can develop and demonstrate their sustainability education competences. The project considers the implications of sustainability competences in the context of curriculum development, pedagogical design and the assessment of micro-credentials in LfS, in the context of the five partners engaged in the project (see Case study 8).

Key Sustainability Competences (KSCs) are promoted and certified through the EduSTA initiative, which is developing tools for ITE and CPD. Its experiences so far point to micro-credentials and the badge-based competence recognition system being an innovative and important means of building capability in LfS. Recognising the prior learning of educators is also an important aspect of this work, and the badge system provides transparent assessment for those who feel they have already mastered certain sustainability education competences. Those involved in EduSTA have also learnt the importance of catering for diversity – especially in relation to the contexts and opportunities to demonstrate competences. Producing a diverse palette of educational options with regard to teachers' sustainability competences, as well as opportunities for digital open badge-driven learning pathways, is proving key to attracting teachers to further their capabilities in this area.

Experimentation: continued experimentation and research on how to develop and use micro-credentials in LfS is necessary in order to harness their potential for teacher education. In the US, many states are carrying out trial projects that use micro-credentials for teacher development, as these can be aligned easily with teacher standards and support different professional learning pathways (DeMonte, 2017). Scholars who have considered micro-credentials have concluded that they offer new pathways for teachers to develop themselves professionally, as well as enabling self-driven learning (Berry et al., 2016). Nonetheless, critical voices note that micro-credentials build on and encompass discourses of employability and undermine the principles of coherence, sequence and hierarchy in education programmes (Wheelahan & Moddie, 2021). These concerns are important to take on board, as the problem of atomising LfS competences has also been raised by scholars (Brundiers et al., 2020; Wiek et al., 2015).



Resources for a sustainable future

- 1. The value of developing teacher resources to support LfS is well recognised and has been shown to be key to mainstreaming educational initiatives in schools.
- 2. The internet has led to an explosion of resources becoming available to teachers, and has heightened tensions between access and quality. While these readily accessible and free materials have facilitated engagement with LfS, teachers must invest time to assess and judge their quality. National agencies and those seeking to catalyse LfS efforts could provide guidelines, criteria or professional development opportunities to assist with this task.
- 3. Most of the resources available are either thematic (e.g. relating to climate change) or pedagogical (e.g. problem-based learning). Only a selected number of materials offer a connected approach that aligns LfS and pedagogy in ways that support evidence-based understanding in this area.
- 4. National agencies that are seeking to reorientate the course of teacher education towards sustainability could consider developing resources. These must have specific explicitly defined objectives that align with teachers' needs in this area, as well as being based on extensive piloting and cycles of improvement.
- 5. For resources to be catalytic in their impact, their content and the activities that they ask teachers to engage in or adopt need to embrace the principles of effective teaching and learning that are necessary to reorientate education practice for sustainability.
- Resources: many resources are available on the internet that can be used by teachers who are interested in integrating sustainability into their teaching, from massive open online courses (MOOCs) to lesson plans. At the time of writing this report, the UNESCO resource bank 'Sustainable Development Goals – Resources for educators' included 273 pedagogical resources, ideas for classroom activities and multimedia resources detailing how best to embed LfS into primary and secondary teaching and learning.
- Access and quality: an international survey asked teachers about resource support, and only one-fifth of respondents reported having access to LfS materials (UNESCO & Education International, 2021). Other studies point to how a lack of resources (not only regarding LfS) is the largest obstacle to the implementation of professional development, emphasising that many times teachers have to pay for their classroom materials (Darling-Hammond et al., 2017).

The existing tension between access and quality is well recognised (McKeown, 2014). While readily accessible and free materials and guidelines have facilitated the incorporation of LfS issues into teaching, teachers have to invest time to assess and judge the quality of these resources. Some initiatives, such as the bank of resources from UNESCO mentioned above, have carried out a careful assessment of their materials, but it is not possible to continuously check all of the resources that are created and posted online. Instead, UNESCO (2014) has called for guidelines on the design and evaluation of materials to assist teachers in making these decisions. National agencies can offer frameworks, as well as professional support, to schools and teachers so that they can identify which resources support positive change in schools and student learning (Kwauk & Iyengar, 2021). They can also encourage teacher education institutions to take these on board (McKeown, 2014).



• **Thematic vs pedagogical entry points:** one review of some of the existing resources points to how most of what is available is either thematic (e.g. focusing on climate change issues) or pedagogical (e.g. seeking to engage learners in problem-based learning). Only a limited number of resources offer an integrated approach that aligns the 'what' and 'how' of LfS in ways that support evidence-based understanding in this area.

Worth highlighting is the 'Teaching and Learning for a Sustainable Future' multimedia teacher education programme (see Case study 3) that changed the course of teacher education for sustainability and has engaged hundreds of participants around the world. Although this particular resource dates back to 2002, much can be learned from its development, design and use.

The success of this resource can partly be attributed to the specificity of its objectives and the way in which its modules promote active learning approaches. Despite having different authors and entry points, there is consistency and clarity across the modules. This has been achieved through extensive piloting in schools and cycles of improvement in earlier versions of the resource.

The case study offers key replicable principles for success to those seeking to develop effective resources in this area. For example, the resource is very explicit about the actual professional development needs of teachers it seeks to address. These include the design and teaching of interdisciplinary approaches, as well as how to deal with teaching complexity and values in sustainability. A learning journal supports reflective practice and ongoing professional development.

Also key to its success is the way in which it integrates the principles of effective teaching and learning necessary to reorientate education practice for sustainability. The 'medium' used for learning promotes and reinforces the 'message', which as embedded and consistently promoted throughout the resource.

• **Catalytic impact:** national authorities and agencies that are seeking to reorientate the course of teacher education towards sustainability could consider identifying and translating/adapting relevant existing materials, as well as developing their own resources. These materials need to specifically and explicitly identify objectives that align with the needs of teachers in this area, and be based on extensive piloting and cycles of improvement. For resources to be catalytic in their impact, their content and the activities they ask teachers to engage in or adopt need to embrace the principles of effective teaching and learning necessary for reorientate education practice for sustainability.



Changing together: collaborative enquiries and peer learning

- 1. Promoting and nurturing a collaborative culture in sustainability learning is a challenge for both schools and teacher education institutions. LfS networks and platforms have proved instrumental in activating this cultural change.
- 2. Documented practice and evaluations of networks testify to the value of a multistakeholder approach in promoting locally relevant education.
- 3. Where there is a lack of dedicated support from government or of sub-regional opportunities in LfS, networks have been proven to help facilitate access by educators to the learning materials and other resources needed in local and regional contexts.
- 4. Peer-to-peer learning can also provide non-threatening experiences that allow experimentation and learning. These approaches support creativity and create safe spaces in which teachers do not feel pressured to perform sustainability actions.
- 5. The lack of progress in embedding LfS into schools and teacher education could be attributed to teachers' lack of experience and expertise in effecting change. LfS requires educators to change learning dynamics and influence education practices beyond the classroom. Building skills for change and leadership among educators is vital. Initiatives that enable educators to come together to plan and map strategies for change have a longer-lasting impact. Preparing teachers to lead change is an important aspect of the mainstreaming process.
- 6. Participatory research approaches and change academies provide ideal platforms for institutions to challenge their perceptions and misconceptions about sustainability, as well as to clarify what it means to create authentic learning opportunities in this area. They provide impetus and motivation and can ripple changes across the teacher education system. Those intending to reorientate teacher education towards sustainability should consider investing in these impactful approaches.
- Learning together: most examples cited so far in this report are addressed towards individual teachers. Evidence points to the value of collaborative learning processes and the potential of networking to mainstream LfS in schools and teacher education institutions (European Commission, 2022a). Working together with other practitioners and stakeholders such as environmental NGOs, media literacy organisations, youth groups and others provides unique professional learning experiences for teachers and teacher educators interested in gaining LfS skills. However, promoting and nurturing a collaborative learning culture in sustainability is a challenge for both schools and teacher education institutions. LfS networks and platforms have proved instrumental in activating teachers' collaborative learning.

Examples of collaborative platforms and networks that are positively supporting teachers' work in the area of sustainability include over 170 Regional Centres of Expertise on Education for Sustainable Development (RCEs) around the world. Documented practice, as well as numerous evaluations of the RCE network, testify to the value of a multi-stakeholder approach and to the promotion of locally relevant education (Fadeeva & Mochizuki, 2007; UNESCO, 2014; UNU-IAS, 2020).

 Lack of national support and incentives: evaluations also suggest that collaborative platforms and networks are particularly important in countries where there is a lack of dedicated support from government or of sub-regional opportunities



in LfS (UNESCO, 2017). In such environments, collaborative platforms and networks facilitate access by educators to learning materials and other resources needed in local and regional contexts (Scoullos, 2018).

The experience of MEdIES (see Case study 4) illustrates how an NGO operating in the Mediterranean region has been involved in teachers' CPD since 1992, and has engaged just under 10,000 teachers and teacher educators. Its efforts have been particularly impactful in countries where national engagement or opportunities in LfS are limited or lacking. MEdIES explicitly recognises that schools and training institutions require support in order to transition towards sustainability. The NGO offers workshops based on active learning and place-based strategies to develop knowledge and understanding about issues of natural resources, and helps teachers build networks that help them to take learning outside the classroom. Teachers and teacher educators in some countries are reliant on non-formal actors like MEdIES to build teachers' capacities in LfS and to secure funding for teacher education programmes (Bourn et al., 2017).

• External collaboration and access to expertise: networks and collaborative platforms outside school enhance opportunities for dialogue, which is essential to the professional development of teachers in the area of LfS. Documented practice reveals how in Sweden, upper-secondary school teachers have engaged in external 'open-minded collaborations' with university experts and NGOs, that have helped teachers to stop viewing complex and wicked issues as problematic to teach, and to tackle them confidently in their classrooms. The efforts of these teachers have become award-winning, as they supported students in becoming informed and active democratic citizens (Sund, 2013).

Similar experiences can be found in Italy, where education authorities have built a 'Green Community' initiative. Breaking away from the traditional in-service course offering, Italian efforts have been focused on creating a community of technical experts and professionals that can assist schools in addressing learning needs for sustainability, as well as helping the school transition to a greener future (see Case study 1). The initiative has also engaged the national broadcaster to extend the work of schools in this area. Broadcasting corporations have substantial experience in communicating and presenting complex material in ways that are accessible. These types of partnerships increase the effectiveness of teacher development initiatives.

• **Peer-to-peer learning:** peer learning can provide non-threatening experiences that allow educators and teacher educators to experiment and learn from each other's successes. These approaches support creativity and create safe spaces in which teachers do not feel pressured to perform or achieve. This can take a variety of forms, either through formal networks in which educators and teacher educators journey together towards the attainment of shared goals, or through informal exchanges in their communities of practice (Kennedy, 2011; Vangrieken et al., 2015). These approaches have been shown to lead ultimately to positive impacts on teachers, institutions and student learning, as they maximise capacity, increase engagement and accelerate whole-school actions for sustainability (Tilbury, 2011).

The experiences of the International Network of Teacher Education Institutions (INTEI) confirm the value of peer-to-peer learning approaches. For more than 25 years, the INTEI has promoted the scaling up of LfS in teacher education policies, programmes and practices (McKeown, 2012). During this time, the network has provided spaces for motivation, experimentation and support. Evaluations have documented how its members have successfully implemented teaching and learning initiatives into ITE and



CPD programmes, and have had an impact on policy and practice beyond their own institutions (McKeown & Hopkins, 2007) (see Case study 9).

• Learning through and for change: the quest for whole-school approaches to sustainability requires changes to the ways in which teachers view and engage with the school community – becoming active agents of school change. The literature confirms that embedding LfS into teacher education means teachers need to learn approaches to sustainability that are transformative rather than adaptive (Evans, 2020). This requires teachers to learn for change, as they go beyond including thematic examples in a course or learning opportunity, to becoming involved in curriculum and school development.

Diverse experiences have demonstrated the power of participatory enquiries (often termed 'action learning', 'participatory action research' or 'change academies') to help educators learn 'through' and 'for' change. These approaches involve teachers working in teams to seek changes for sustainability in schools and teacher education institutions. National authorities that are keen to mainstream LfS across schools and teacher education should consider prioritising such learning experiences, as they have shown to be among the most effective ways of transforming education towards sustainability. However, these initiatives require time, space and funding in order to be effective.

- **Change academies:** the University Educators for Sustainable Development initiative (UE4SD) has shown how change academies can assist with the attainment of significant milestones along the educational transformation journey (see Case study 6). Sustainability education has been around since the early 1990s, but leaders of the UE4SD project have understood that the lack of progress may be attributed to one key factor: namely, those driving LfS agendas often have little experience of educational change (Ryan & Tilbury, 2013). However, LfS requires educators to have the ability to change learning dynamics and influence education practices beyond the classroom, and thus to shape the priorities and plans of education providers. Building skills for change and leadership among educators is vital. The UE4SD project created spaces for teams from the same school, college or university to come together to plan and map strategies for change. This is an important aspect of the mainstreaming process. It has provided tangible insights into how effective professional development for change can take place; through UE4SD's Academy, new formats have been explored that are different from those traditionally adopted. The initiative acknowledged that different learning opportunities are needed in order to think through how change in education systems can happen, and how best to engage colleagues, students and professional partners with LfS in an institutional or school context.
- **Participatory action research:** also worthy of note is the work undertaken by the Australian Institute in Education for Sustainability (ARIES), which used participatory action research to leverage change across the teacher education system. This well-documented initiative embedded change and transformed the presence of sustainability in teacher education. It was initially piloted in seven higher education institutions, which identified key agents of change in the system (Ferreira et al., 2007; Ferreira et al., 2019).

Similarly, in Ontario (Canada), faculties of education and their communities of practice have succeeded in influencing teacher education, extending LfS across the province. One teacher educator has described how she was able to work with others to move from having a small extra-curricular LfS programme, to building a robust programme for pre-service teachers, as well as infusing sustainability into a diversity of courses



and elective modules, organising an annual conference on LfS that was open to the whole community, and hosting more than 20 co-curricular LfS events each year (Inwood, 2020). Mapping the teacher education system and identifying key agents of change within it was seen as an important contributor to this success.

Other examples of such teacher change initiatives include the Baltic and Black Sea Circle (see Salite, 2015) or the Caribbean Network for ESD (see Down & Nurse, 2007), which have had documented impact. Many of these have been inspired by the work of the INTEI (see Case study 9), and demonstrate how peer-to-peer learning goes hand in hand with the planning and implementation of change strategies for sustainability in education.

- **Mapping change journeys:** participatory action research and change academies have proven effective in mainstreaming LfS, as they allow institutions to understand where they are on their journey and to define a map of actions that can take them where they want to go. Also of note is the 'Sustainability Starts with Teachers' initiative, a UNESCO-led capacity-building programme in sustainability for teacher educators in Southern Africa. This engages participants in defining change projects at their own institutions, with a focus on teaching practice improvements, assessment, integrating culture and indigenous knowledge into the curriculum, community engagement, and science and technology innovations for sustainability. Whole-of-institution responses to sustainability are sought. Recently, the programme has also launched an online course for participants to understand the complexity of LfS, as well as assist with the design of their change projects.
- Authentic learning and systemic change: what has been learned from these experiences is that participatory research approaches and change academies provide ideal platforms for institutions to challenge their perceptions and misconceptions about sustainability, as well as clarify what it means to create authentic learning opportunities in this area. They provide impetus and motivation and can lead to changes that can have important ripple effects across the teacher education system (Christoforatou, 2021; Rauch et al., 2021). Evidence points to how those intending to reorientate teacher education towards sustainability should consider investing in these approaches.

Framing LfS as educational innovation or renewal

- 1. Efforts that articulate the value of LfS to education and learners can deepen the engagement of teachers and educators. They are effective in reaching teachers who are yet to commit to sustainability, but who have an interest in educational quality or creating better opportunities for students.
- 2. Connections need to be made not just in terms of framing, but also in the way that initiatives are communicated to stakeholders. This will assist in extending the impacts of efforts beyond individual teachers, to supporters and leaders.
- 3. In addition, initiatives that connect LfS to the reform of educational pedagogies more broadly, as well as to other educational agendas, have a greater chance of success. Such initiatives are effective in helping leadership teams to see how LfS contributes to meeting the core priorities of the school or institution.
- 4. Many initiatives show how aligning LfS with the digital transition has extended the appeal of and interest in sustainability among educators and schools. Both LfS and



the digital transition involve a whole-school perspective, and can inform each other in terms of overcoming barriers to innovation.

 Value of LfS to education: efforts that articulate the value of LfS to education and learners (and not just to the environment) are seen to deepen the engagement of teachers and educators (see Kapitulčinová et al., 2015). Such efforts are especially effective in reaching teachers who are yet to commit to green agendas, but who have an interest in educational quality or creating better opportunities for learners (Lambrechts et al., 2017).

The literature shows how achieving this engagement is not simply a matter of connecting agendas but also of articulating the value of LfS to education and learners (Ryan & Cotton, 2013). Clearly articulating the ways in which sustainability learning principles relate to existing practice appears key to the success of many initiatives, as not all teachers have yet committed to the green agenda, but most have an interest in educational quality or creating better opportunities for learners.

 Aligning agendas: equally, initiatives that tie sustainability learning to the reform of educational pedagogies more broadly, as well as to other educational innovation agendas, have a greater chance of success. Such initiatives are effective in engaging leadership teams who, as a result, can see how LfS contributes to meeting the core priorities of the organisation or institution.

The UE4SD initiative documents how mainstreaming the LfS agenda requires the engagement of leadership teams. The project found that this often means aligning LfS with the core priorities of the organisation or institution, which may include improving literacy, global education, curriculum reform, pedagogical innovation or 'whole-person' education (see Case study 6).

The UE4SD initiative was framed using language that appealed to those not traditionally associated with LfS. This made it clear that the initiative intended to improve education and not just address sustainability. This meant that university leaders found it easier to engage and align it with institutional change priorities that included pedagogical innovation, student engagement and core competences. This resulted in 55 higher education institutions, organisations and associations across 33 countries becoming engaged in the reorientation of learning and teaching towards sustainability.

• **Digital transition:** the 'Teaching and learning for a sustainable future' resource also embraces alignment (see Case study 3). In this case, the alignment is with supporting the adoption of digital tools and technologies in schools – an agenda that has been gathering traction more recently with the aspirations related to the digital transition. Many initiatives demonstrate this alignment between LfS and the digital transition, and how it has extended the appeal of and interest in sustainability among educators and schools. Both LfS and the digital transition involve a whole-school perspective, and can inform each other in terms of overcoming obstacles to innovation.

Fresh insights and visions: futures education and new technologies

1. Parallels can be drawn between the opportunities and challenges involved in implementing the digital and green agendas in schools. Connecting these efforts in teacher education can support the mainstreaming of LfS.



- 2. Research suggests that connecting teachers with research institutions and groups engaged in futures and digital learning projects can inspire teachers to rethink their practices in the light of sustainability.
- 3. Futures education creates opportunities to enhance perceptions, embrace complexity and create the new sense of agency required to attain these futures. It has been shown to capture the interest of teachers and learners, enabling deeper engagement with the concept of sustainability.
- 4. The metaverse offers great potential to go beyond the ways in which educators teach today, as immersive learning experiences can change how we structure and plan education. Stepping into 'metaworlds' could facilitate the visualisation of learning scenarios in which complex socio-ecological challenges are explored collaboratively. Students can step into other's shoes, or imagine a different future. Such visualisations have the potential to transform LfS in schools and teacher education.
- 5. The potential to shape learning experiences in LfS and to consider alternative futures using new technologies is significant. However, it must be recognised that while some teachers are captivated by innovations such as the metaverse, others fear the changes that technology might bring.
- **Finding parallels and connections:** significant parallels can be drawn between the opportunities (and challenges) that surround engaging educators in the digital transition and the uptake of LfS by schools. New technologies can bring fresh perspectives and engagement, and the alignment of both agendas in teacher education can support the mainstreaming of sustainability learning. Specifically, research suggests that connecting teachers with research institutions and groups that are engaged in futures and digital learning projects can inspire teachers to rethink their practices in the light of sustainability.
- **Futures dimensions:** an increasing recognition that our futures are shaped by decisions made in the present underpins calls for a shift in educational pedagogies and processes in teacher education. By becoming more conscious of how our understanding of the future influences current decisions, both in a professional and personal context, we can make choices that are better informed and less shaped by biases and mistaken assumptions (CIFS, 2021). It is within this context that interest in futures education and literacy is on the rise (see Miller, 2018). Futures education provides the means to not only question assumptions about the future and to seek alternative visions for the attainment of sustainability, but also to create opportunities to enhance perceptions, embrace complexity and create the new sense of agency needed to attain these futures (Julien et al., 2018; Kazemier et al., 2021). This explains why and how futures education can capture the interest of teachers and learners and enable deeper engagement with the concept of sustainability.
- Gaining traction: futures education is not a new concept in sustainability education, as it has been associated with LfS since the 1980s (see Hicks, 1998); however, it has gained ground over the last decade. The UNESCO expert review of education for sustainable development identified futures thinking as a core element of learning (Tilbury, 2011), More recently, the EU's 'GreenComp' has included it as a core competence (Bianchi et al., 2022).

In 2019, the UNESCO Chair for Futures Literacy was launched at Hanze University of Applied Sciences (Netherlands), providing a platform to conduct research and supporting teacher educators and educational professionals to further explore the



theory and practice of futures education. The Chair offers various training opportunities, including participation in Futures Literacy Labs. These 'learning by doing' workshops enable participants to reveal, reframe and rethink the assumptions they use to imagine futures.

- **Pedagogy for change:** those engaged in the decolonisation of education are also supportive of these new approaches, as they are seen as challenging socially dominant narratives that pre-empt particular futures determined by small groups within society (Lotz-Sisitka, 2017). Proponents of decolonisation call for the democratisation of the future through the approaches of futures literacy and futures thinking. These empower learners to better understand the role of the future in what they see and do at present. Being futures literate empowers the imagination, and enhances our ability to prepare, recover and invest as changes occur (CIFS, 2021). Those seeking to catalyse change in teacher education could promote the pedagogies for change that underpin futures education, as well as considering the opportunities it offers to democratise the future.
- New frames and insights: the Copenhagen Institute for Future Studies (CIFS) brings together a group of experts seeking to join up the agendas of technological transition, sustainable development, and the development of educators as future practitioners. Their experiences document how researchers can play an important role in inspiring and empowering teachers to engage with the digital transition, and in parallel consider the future of learning (see Case study 7). The case study shows how futures thinking is best practiced as a social process and through frames of collective intelligence in which cognitive assumptions can be questioned and worldviews challenged. It demonstrates how arts and culture provide ideal platforms for interrogating the , as they help to explore beyond ordinary, national, materialistic paradigms, providing a complement to the science already taught in schools. Through these channels, learners can view or create alternative ways of knowing and being.
- The metaverse: the metaverse is also drawing the attention of futurists and those concerned with learning about the future. The metaverse is an immersive internet experience supported by virtual reality or augmented reality technology. Analysts suggest that it will transform the ways in which educators currently teach, as immersive learning experiences will completely change how we structure and plan education (Cortés, 2022). Stepping into 'metaworlds' can facilitate the visualisation of learning scenarios in which complex socio-ecological challenges are explored collaboratively. Students can step into other's shoes to understand how other people's living conditions differ from their own. They can experience what it might be like to live in a green smart city (see Case study 7). The potential to transform learning experiences in LfS and to consider alternative futures is significant. However, we must recognise that while some teachers are captivated by innovations such as the metaverse, others fear the changes that technology might bring to education. It is also important to remain cautious and critical about the use of new technologies in education. This is especially relevant given the social and ethical concerns linked to artificial intelligence, as well as the risks that arise from social media concerning the exploitation of data and people's privacy and security. It is essential that a healthy scepticism is associated with the application of new technologies, and that digital literacy is developed alongside teachers' critical reflective practice.



Chapter 6. Recommendations

This research study has pointed to a number of key needs and identified a series of catalytic entry points that can support change for sustainability. Informed by these findings, the following recommendations identify steps that could be taken at policy and practice level to strengthen the embedding of LfS across teacher education. The recommendations are primarily intended for policy makers at local, regional, national and European level. These stakeholders in the teacher education system, previously identified in Figure 1, are key gate-keepers as well as agents of change, as they have a role in providing the frameworks, conditions and means to promote LfS in teacher education.

Please note that some recommendations are relevant to numerous stakeholder groups, as mainstreaming LfS in teacher education requires a whole-of-sector and multi-stakeholder approach. It is also important to highlight that the extent of change and the specific tools required to support this change will depend on local scenarios, the experience of stakeholders in LfS, and the policy frameworks in place.

- **Recommendation 1. Celebrate** by visibly showcasing political leadership and policy commitment to LfS within the context of teacher education. This will attract the attention of others to this agenda. Similarly, promote a whole-of-government response to LfS that leads to integrated policy and use of resources. This could be achieved by documenting and celebrating best practice in EU Member States and beyond. (*Ministries, agencies and governing bodies*).
- **Recommendation 2. Convene** authorities, agencies and professional groups to consider how to embed LfS into professional standards or competence frameworks for teachers. Integrate LfS into definitions of what it means to be a qualified and effective teacher. Establish expectations, evaluation systems and pathways for teachers to develop and demonstrate competences in this area. It is important that this is achieved through collaborative processes involving the teaching profession. (*Ministries, agencies and governing bodies; teacher education providers; schools*)
- **Recommendation 3. Promote** the use of self-evaluation approaches and reflective practice tools to drive the development of teachers' competences in LfS. This should be carried out by establishing networks of teachers, evaluators and 'critical friends' that encourage deep reflection and challenge current practices. Consideration should be given to generating guidelines and tools in this area. (*Ministries, agencies and governing bodies; teacher education providers; schools*)
- **Recommendation 4. Recognise** best practice in schools, colleges and teacher education, as well as outstanding educators in LfS, through the use of award schemes. A European-wide competition would not only motivate engagement but also trigger conversations about what constitutes best practice in this area. Member States could establish their own processes and nominate candidates, encouraging them to consider what best practice in LfS looks like. (*Ministries, agencies and governing bodies; teacher education providers; community stakeholders; schools*)
- **Recommendation 5. Create**, via grants and funding schemes, spaces for teachers and teacher educators to grow LfS projects through teacher collaboration and peer-learning. Encourage authorities and agencies to provide similar collaborative learning pathways at national and sub-regional levels (*Ministries, agencies and governing bodies; teacher education providers and stakeholders; schools*).



- **Recommendation 6. Incentivise** teachers to develop their competences and experiences in LfS. This can be achieved by including sustainability criteria in role descriptions, the responsibilities of positions, and in career progression profiles. A publication that captures the best of these examples could help to inspire others (*Ministries, agencies and governing bodies; professional bodies and unions*).
- **Recommendation 7: Support** teacher education providers through targeted schemes that provide funding, networking platforms and other resources to assist them in integrating LfS into their professional education and development offerings. Such efforts should be aimed at initial and practising teachers as well as headteachers and education leaders (*Teacher education providers*).
- **Recommendation 8. Encourage** the certification of LfS training through microcredentials. These micro-credentials should be flexible, relevant, offer equal opportunities to teachers, and be transferrable. The European Commission could work alongside relevant stakeholders to support experimentation and piloting in this area. *(Higher education institutions; community stakeholders; schools; teacher education providers)*
- **Recommendation 9. Advance** the development of resources for teacher education providers by promoting efforts that address LfS as a pedagogical strategy through a whole-school approach. Work with stakeholders to ensure that these resources are relevant to teachers' needs in this area (and not simply environmental objectives), and are based on extensive piloting and cycles of improvement. (*Ministries, agencies and governing bodies; teacher education providers; schools; community stakeholders*)
- **Recommendation 10. Develop** guidelines and a set of criteria to evaluate the effectiveness of LfS professional development programmes and resources offered by teacher education providers. Encourage the adaptation of these guidelines at national and sub-regional levels, and for the particular stakeholder groups. (*All*)
- **Recommendation 11. Raise awareness** of the importance of multi-stakeholder platforms that provide professional learning opportunities and facilitate access to LfS materials, especially where there is a lack of dedicated support from government-dedicated, or of sub-regional opportunities in relation to sustainability learning. (*All*)
- **Recommendation 12. Invest** in participatory action research and change academies that enable stakeholder groups to develop and implement strategic actions for LfS with regard to policies, programmes and practice. Encourage national authorities, professional bodies and other stakeholders to support these processes. (*All*)
- **Recommendation 13. Define** the value of LfS to learners, and demonstrate how it can contribute to meeting core educational priorities. This will attract the attention of those teachers who are not yet engaging with sustainability, but who may be curious to learn more. (*Schools; teacher education providers; community stakeholders*)
- **Recommendation 14. Connect** programmes and funding schemes that encourage better alignment between the digital and green transitions in teacher education, as a way of increasing the uptake of LfS by teachers. Encourage authorities and agencies to do likewise. (*Ministries, agencies and governing bodies*)
- **Recommendation 15. Inspire** greater engagement with LfS by encouraging teachers and teacher educators to work with research institutions and groups engaging with futures and metaverse learning projects. Form partnerships that will encourage teacher



education providers to experiment with these areas, and explore ways to transgress the boundaries current educational approaches. (*Schools; teacher education providers; community stakeholders*).



References

- Aikens, K., McKenzie. M., & Vaughter, P. (2016). Environmental and sustainability education policy research: A systematic review of methodological and thematic trends. *Environmental Education Research*, 22(3), 333-359. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2015.1135418
- Aikens, K., & McKenzie, M. (2021). A comparative analysis of environment and sustainability in policy across subnational education systems. *Journal of Environmental Education*, 52(2), 69-82. https://doi.org/10.1080/00958964.2021.1887685
- Andersson, K. (2017). Starting the pluralistic tradition of teaching? Effects of education for sustainable development (ESD) on pre-service teachers' views on teaching about sustainable development. *Environmental Education Research*, 23(3), 436–439. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2016.1174982</u>
- Andersson, K., Jagers, S.C., Lindskog, A., & Martinsson, J. (2013). Learning for the future: Effects of education for sustainable development (ESD) on teacher education students. *Sustainability*, 5(12), 5135–5152. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su5125135</u>
- Annan-Diab, F., & Molinari, C. (2017). Interdisciplinarity: Practical approach to advancing education for sustainability and for the Sustainable Development Goals. *The International Journal of Management Education, 15* (2), 73-83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijme.2017.03.006
- Barnes, M., Moore, D., & Almeida, S.C. (Eds.) (2021). Empowering teachers through environmental and sustainability education. Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780429352447</u>
- Barth, M., & Kater-Wettstädt, L. (2021). Implementing education for sustainable development in the German school system. In: J.C.-K. Lee & T. Ehmke (Eds.), *Quality in teacher education and professional development. Chinese and German perspectives* (pp. 157-175). Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003197973</u>
- Benavot, A. (2014). Education for sustainable development in primary and secondary education. Background paper for the Decade for ESD. UNESCO.
- Berry, B., Airhart, K.M., & Byrd, P.A. (2016). Microcredentials: Teacher learning transformed. *Phi Delta Kappan*, *98*(3), 34–40. https://doi.org/10.1177/0031721716677260
- Bertschy, F., Künzli, C., & Lehmann, M. (2013). Teachers' competencies for the implementation of educational offers in the field of education for sustainable development. *Sustainability*, *5*(12), 5067–5080. https://doi.org/10.3390/su5125067
- Bianchi, G., Pisiotis, U., & Cabrera Giraldez, M. (2022). *GreenComp: The European sustainability competence framework.* Publications Office of the European Union. <u>https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/handle/JRC128040</u>
- Boeve-de Pauw, J., Gericke, N., Olsson, D., & Berglund, T. (2015). The effectiveness of education for sustainable development. *Sustainability*, *7*(11): 15693–15717. https://doi.org/10.3390/su71115693
- Boeve-de Pauw, J., Olsson, D., Berglund, T., & Gericke, N. (2022). Teachers' ESD selfefficacy and practices: A longitudinal study on the impact of teacher professional development. *Environmental Education Research, 28*:6, 867-885. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2022.2042206</u>
- Booth, J., Coldwell, M., Müller, L. M., Perry, E., & Zuccollo, J. (2021). Mid-career teachers: A mixed methods scoping study of professional development, career progression and retention. *Education Sciences*, 2021 (11), 299. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/educsci11060299</u>
- Bourn, D., Hunt, F., & Bamber, P. (2017). *A review of education for sustainable development in teacher education*. Background paper prepared for the 2017/8



Global Education Monitoring Report "Accountability in education: Meeting our commitments". UNESCO. <u>https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000259566</u>

- Bourn, D., & Soysal, N. (2021). Transformative learning and pedagogical approaches in education for sustainable development: Are initial teacher education programmes in England and Turkey ready for creating agents of change for sustainability? *Sustainability*, 13(16), 8973. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su13168973</u>
- Bourke, T., Ryan, M., & Ould, P. (2018). How do teacher educators use professional standards in their practice? *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 75 (October 2018), 83-92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tate.2018.06.005</u>
- Brauer, S., & Korhonen, A.M. (2022). 360-Degree view of digital open badge-driven learning. In: D. Piedra (Ed.), *Innovations in the design and application of alternative digital credentials* (pp. 95-130). IGE Global. <u>https://www.doi.org/10.4018/978-1-</u> <u>7998-7697-7.ch005</u>
- Bronwyn, E.W., Cornforth, S., Beals, F., Taylor, M., & Tallon, R. (2016). Sustainability champions? Academic identities and sustainability curricula in higher education. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, *17*(3), 342-360. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSHE-12-2014-0171</u>
- Brundiers, K., Barth, M., Cebrián, G., Cohen, M., Diaz, L., Doucette-Remington, S., Dripps, W., Habron, G., Harré, N., Jarchow, M., Losch, K., Michel, J., Mochizuki, Y., Rieckmann, M., Parnell, R., Walker, P., & Zint, M. (2020). Key competencies in sustainability in higher education – toward an agreed-upon reference framework. *Sustainability Science*, *16*, 13-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-020-00838-2</u>
- Buchanan, J. (2012). Sustainability education and teacher education: Finding a natural habitat? *Australian Journal of Environmental Education*, 28(2), 108–124. https://www.jstor.org/stable/26422799
- Bürgener, L., & Barth, M. (2018). Sustainability competencies in teacher education: Making teacher education count in everyday school practice. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 174, 821-826. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.10.263</u>
- Cebrián, G., & Junyent, M. (2014). Competencias profesionales en educación para la sostenibilidad: Un estudio exploratorio de la visión de futuros maestros. *Enseñanza de las Ciencias*, 32, 29–49. https://raco.cat/index.php/Ensenanza/article/view/287507
- Cebrián, G., Junyent, M., & Mulà, I. (2020). Competencies in education for sustainable development: Emerging teaching and research developments. *Sustainability*, *12*(2), 579. https://doi.org/10.3390/su12020579
- Cebrián, G., Mogas, J., Palau, R., & Fuentes, M. (2022). Sustainability and the 2030 Agenda within schools: A study of school principals' engagement and perceptions. *Environmental education research, 28*(6), 845-866. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2022.2044017
- Ceulemans, C., Simons, M., & Struyf, E. (2012). Professional standards for teachers: How do they 'work'? An experiment in tracing standardisation in- the-making in teacher education. *Pedagogy, Culture & Society, 20*(1), 29-47. https://doi.org/10.1080/14681366.2012.649414
- Cheeseman, A., Wright, T.S.A., Murray, J., & McKenzie, M. (2019). Taking stock of sustainability in higher education: A review of the policy literature. *Environmental Education Research, 25*(12), 1697-1712. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2019.1616164
- Cheng, M.M., Cheng, A.Y., & Tang, S.Y.F. (2010). Closing the gap between the theory and practice of teaching: Implications for teacher education programmes in Hong Kong. Journal of Education for Teaching, 36(1), 91–104.<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02607470903462222</u>
- Chimier, C., & Tournier, B. (2019a). *How do teachers perceive career structure reforms and how does this affect the profession?* Teacher career reforms: Learning from experience. IIEP research brief no. 2. IIEP-UNESCO.



https://www.iiep.unesco.org/en/publication/how-do-teachers-perceive-careerstructure-reforms-and-how-does-affect-profession

- Chimier, C., & Tournier, B. (2019b). *Designing teacher career structures and evaluating staff performance.* Teacher career reforms: Learning from experience. IIEP research brief no. 3. IIEP-UNESCO. <u>https://www.iiep.unesco.org/en/publication/designing-teacher-career-structures-and-evaluating-staff-performance</u>
- Christie, B., Higgins, P., King, B., Collacott, M., Kirk, K., & Smith, H., (2019). From rhetoric to reality: Examining the policy vision and the professional process of enacting learning for sustainability in Scottish schools. *Scottish Educational Review, 51* (1), 44-56.
- Christoforatou, E. (2021). Teacher education for sustainable development within national frameworks: Squaring the circle from a German perspective. *International Journal of Development Education and Global Learning, 13*(1), 1-15. https://www.doi.org/10.14324/IJDEGL.13.1.01
- Cincera, J., & Krajhanzl, J. (2013). Eco-schools: What factors influence pupils' action competence for pro-environmental behaviour? *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 61, 117–121.<u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2013.06.030</u>
- Clayson, A. (2013). National journeys towards education for sustainable development, 2013: Reviewing national ESD experiences from Costa Rica, Morocco, South Africa, Sweden, Viet Nam. UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000221008
- Clinton, J., Dinham, S., Savage, G.C., Aston, R., Dabrowski, A., Gullikson, A., Calnin, G., & Arbour, G. (2016). *Final report: Evaluation of the implementation of the Australian professional standards for teachers.* Australian Institute for Teaching and School Leadership (AITSL). <u>https://www.aitsl.edu.au/tools-</u> <u>resources/resource/final-report-evaluation-of-the-australian-professional-</u> <u>standards-for-teachers</u>
- Coles, A., Dillon, J., Gall, M., James, J., Kerr, D., Orchard, J., Tidmarsh, C., & Wishart, J. (2017). Towards a teacher education for the Anthropocene. In: P. Corcoran, J.P. Weakland, & A.E.J. Wals (Eds.), *Envisioning futures for environmental and sustainability education* (pp. 45-62). Wageningen Academic Publishers. <u>https://doi.org/10.3920/978-90-8686-846-9_4</u>
- Concina, E. (2019). Critical thinking methods for sustainable development. In: W.L. Filho (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of sustainability in higher education*. Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-63951-2_205-1
- Copenhagen Institute for Futures Studies (CIFS) (2022). Using the future. Embracing uncertainty, improving decision-making and democratising tomorrow. Copenhagen Institute for Futures Studies. <u>https://cifs.dk/p/using-the-future-embracing-uncertainty-improving-decision-making-and-democratising-tomorrow</u>
- Cortés, M. (2022). Analyses and insights on the potential impact of the metaverse on the education sector. A report by the UOC's eLearning Innovation Center. Universitat Oberta de Catalunya. <u>https://openaccess.uoc.edu/handle/10609/141246</u>
- Council of the EU (2021a). Resolution 2021/C 66/01 on a strategic framework for European cooperation in education and training towards the European Education Area and beyond (2021-2030). <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/ALL/?uri=CELEX:32021G0226(01)</u>
- Council of the EU (2022a). Council Recommendation on a European approach to microcredentials for lifelong learning and employability. 9237/22. https://eurlex.europa.eu/legal-

content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A32022H0627%2802%29&qid=1679479237007

Council of the EU (2022b). Council Recommendation on learning for the green transition and sustainable development. <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-</u> <u>content/EN/TXT/HTML/?uri=CELEX:32022H0627(01)&from=EN</u>



- Crehan, L. (2016). *Exploring the impact of career models on teacher motivation*. IIEP-UNESCO. <u>https://www.iiep.unesco.org/en/exploring-impact-career-models-</u> teacher-motivation-9333
- Dahl, T. (2019). Prepared to teach for sustainable development? Student teachers' beliefs in their ability to teach for sustainable development. *Sustainability*, 11(7): 1993. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su11071993</u>
- Day, C. (2017). School leadership as an influence on teacher quality. In: X. Zhu, A. Goodwin, & H. Zhang (Eds.), Quality of teacher education and learning. New frontiers of educational research (pp. 101-117). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-3549-4_7
- Darling-Hammond, L. (2013). *Getting teacher evaluation right: What really matters for effectiveness and improvement.* Teachers College Press.
- Darling-Hammond, L., Wei, R.C., Andree, A., Richardson, N., & Orphanos, S. (2009). *Professional learning in the learning profession.* National Staff Development Council.
- Darling-Hammond, L., Hyler, M.E., & Gardner, M. (2017). *Effective teacher professional development*. Learning Policy Institute. <u>https://learningpolicyinstitute.org/sites/default/files/product-</u> <u>files/Effective Teacher Professional Development REPORT.pdf</u>
- Delors, J., Al Mufti, I., Amagi, I., Carneiro, R., Chung, F., Geremek, B., Gorham, W., Kornhauser, A., Manley, M., Padrón Quero, M., Savane, M.A., Singh, K., Stavenhagen, R., Suhr, M.W., & Nanzhao, Z. (1996). *Learning: The treasure within*. UNESCO. <u>https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000109590</u>
- DeMonte, J. (2017). *Micro-credentials for teachers. What three early adopter states have learned so far.* American Institutes for Research. https://www.air.org/sites/default/files/downloads/report/Micro-Creditials-for-Teachers-September-2017.pdf
- Down, L., & Nurse, H. Education for sustainable development networks, potential and challenge: A critical reflection on the formation of the Caribbean Regional Network. *Journal of Education for Teaching: International research and pedagogy, 33*(2), 177-190. <u>https://www.doi.org/10.1080/02607470701259473</u>
- Education International, & UNESCO (2019). *Global framework of professional teaching standards*. UNESCO. <u>https://www.ei-ie.org/en/item/25734:global-framework-of-professional-teaching-standards</u>
- Educational Authority of Hungary (2019, October 20). Útmutató a pedagógusok_minősítési rendszerében a Pedagógus I. és Pedagógus II. fokozatba lépéshez Hatodik, módosított változat. (Guide to the teacher qualification system for entering_degrees of Pedagogue I and Pedagogue. Sixth, modified version.) <u>https://www.oktatas.hu/pub_bin/dload/unios_projektek/kiadvanyok/utmutato_a_pedagogusok_minositesi_rendszereben_6.pdf</u>
- Edwards, R. (2016). Competence-based education and limitations of critique. *International Journal of Training Research, 14*(3), 244-255. https://doi.org/10.1080/14480220.2016.1254366
- ENQA, EU, EUA, & EURASHE (2015). *Standards and guidelines for quality assurance in the European Higher Education Area (ESG)*. <u>https://www.enqa.eu/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/ESG_2015.pdf</u>
- European Commission (2012). Commission staff working document. Supporting the teaching professions for better learning outcomes. Accompanying the document Communication from the Commission Rethinking Education: Investing in skills for better socio-economic outcomes. <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=SWD:2012:0374:FIN:EN:PDF</u>
- European Commission (2013). *Supporting teacher educators for better learning outcomes.* Publications Office of the European Union. <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/LexUriServ/LexUriServ.do?uri=SWD:2012:0374:FIN:EN:PDF</u>



- European Commission (2015). *Shaping career-long perspectives on teaching. A guide on policies to improve initial teacher education.* Publications Office of the European Union.
- European Commission (2020a). European Parliament resolution of 15 January 2020 on the European Green Deal (2019/2956(RSP)). <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-</u> <u>content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52020IP0005</u>
- European Commission (2020b). European Skills Agenda for sustainable competitiveness, social fairness and resilience (COM(2020) 274 final). <u>https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52020DC0274</u>
- European Commission (2020c). Supporting teacher and school leader careers A policy guide. Publications Office of the European Union. https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/f02d4648-7a07-11eab75f-01aa75ed71a1/language-en
- European Commission. (2021). *EU Biodiversity Strategy for 2030. Bringing nature to our lives.* https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/31e4609f-b91e-11eb-8aca-01aa75ed71a1
- European Commission (2022a). Learning for the green transition and sustainable development. Staff working document accompanying the proposal for a council recommendation on learning for environmental sustainability. June 2022. <u>https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/db585fc7-ed6e-11ec-a534-01aa75ed71a1/language-en/format-PDF/</u>
- European Commission (2022b). Learning for sustainability: Organising and designing curriculum and building core competences. Key messages from the plenary meeting of the Working Group on Schools (2021-2025) 'Learning for Environmental sustainability'. Brussels, 5-16 September 2022.
- European Commission, EACEA, & Eurydice (2018). *Teaching careers in Europe: Access, progression and support. Eurydice Report.* Publications Office of the European Union. :https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/435e941e-1c3b-11e8-ac73-01aa75ed71a1/language-en
- Evans, N. (2017). Teacher education and education for sustainability. In J. Ferreira, N. Evans, J.M. Davis, & R. Stevenson (Eds.), *Learning to embed sustainability in teacher education* (pp. 7-22). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-9536-9_2</u>
- Evans, N. (2020). What ought to be done to promote education for sustainability in teacher education? *Journal of Philosophy of Education*, 54(4), 817-824. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9752.12482
- Fadeeva, Z., & Mochizuki, Y. (2007). Regional Centres of Expertise: Innovative networking for education for sustainable development. *Journal of Education for Sustainable Development*, 1(2), 229–237. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/097340820700100213</u>
- Ferreira, J.A., Evans, N., Davis, J.M., & Stevenson, R. (Eds.) (2019). Learning to embed sustainability in teacher education. Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-13-9536-9</u>
- Ferreira, J.A., Ryan, L., & Tilbury, D. (2006). *Whole-school approaches to sustainability: A review of models for professional development in pre-service teacher education.* Australian Government Department of the Environment and Heritage and the Australian Research Institute in Education for Sustainability (ARIES). http://aries.mq.edu.au/projects/preservice/files/TeacherEduDec06.pdf
- Ferreira, J.A., Ryan, L., & Tilbury, D. (2007). Mainstreaming education for sustainable development in initial teacher education in Australia: A review of existing professional development models. *Journal of Education for Teaching*, 33 (2), 225-239. <u>https://www.doi.org/10.1080/02607470701259515</u>
- Ferreira, J.A., & Ryan, L. (2012). Working the system: A model for system-wide change in pre-service teacher education. *Australian Journal of Teacher Education*, 37(12), 29–45.<u>https://www.doi.org/10.14221/ajte.2012v37n12.3</u>



- Ferreira, J.A., Ryan, L., Davis, J., Cavanagh, M., & Thomas, J. (2009). Mainstreaming sustainability into pre-service teacher education in Australia. Prepared by the Australian Research Institute in Education for Sustainability for the Australian Government Department of the Environment, Water, Heritage and the Arts.
- Fien, J., & Maclean, R. (2000). Teacher education for sustainability. II. Two teacher education projects from Asia and the Pacific. *Journal of Science Education and Technology*, 9(1), 37-48. <u>https://www.jstor.org/stable/40188539</u>
- Fischer, D., King, J., Rieckmann, M., Barth, M., Büssing, A., Hemmer, I., & Lindau-Bank, D. (2022). Teacher education for sustainable development: A review of an emerging research field. *Journal of Teacher Education*, 73(5), 1-16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/00224871221105</u>
- Forde, C., McMahon, M.A., Hamilton, G., & Murray, R. (2016). Rethinking professional standards to promote professional learning. *Professional Development in Education*, 42(1), 19-35. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2014.999288</u>
- Garet, M., Porter, A., Desimone, L., Birman, B., & Yoon, K. (2001). What makes professional development effective? Analysis of a national sample of teachers. *American Educational Research Journal, 38*, 915–945. https://doi.org/10.3102/000283120380049
- General Teaching Council of Scotland (GTCS) (2021). Overview of learning for sustainability in professional standards. <u>https://www.gtcs.org.uk/wp-</u> <u>content/uploads/2021/10/overview-learning-for-sustainability-professional-</u> <u>standards.pdf</u>
- GTCS (2022, August 13). Exploring learning for sustainability in the professional standards for teachers. <u>https://www.gtcs.org.uk/learning-for-sustainability-module-</u> 1/practice.html
- Glackin, M., & King, H. (2020). Taking stock of environmental education policy in England – the what, the where and the why. *Environmental Education Research, 26* (3), 305-323. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2019.1707513</u>
- González-Gaudiano, E.J. (2007). Schooling and environment in Latin America in the third millennium. *Environmental Education Research, 13* (2), 155–169. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504620701295684
- Gough, A., Lee, J.C., & Tsaung, E.P. (Eds). (2020). Green schools globally. Stories of impact on education for sustainable development. Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-46820-0</u>
- Henderson, K., & Tilbury, D. (2004) *Whole-school approaches to sustainability: An international review of sustainable school programs*. Australian Research Institute in Education for Sustainability. http://aries.mg.edu.au/projects/whole school/files/international review.pdf
- Hicks, D. (1998). Postmodern education: A futures perspective. American Behavioral Scientist, 42(3), 514–521. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764298042003023
- Hoffman, T. (2021). Viewpoint: How to teach global challenges? A solution focussed approach. *Southern African Journal of Environmental Education, 37*, 143–157 https://doi.org/10.4314/sajee.v37i1.10
- Huang, Y.S, Leite, S., & Harvey, B. (2022). Faculties of education as innovation brokers. *NORRAG* Special Issue 07, 131-134. <u>https://resources.norrag.org/resource/732/education-in-times-of-climate-change</u>
- INEE (2015). Where it's needed most: Quality professional development for all teachers. INEE. <u>https://inee.org/resources/where-its-needed-most-quality-professional-development-all-teachers</u>
- Ingvarson, L. (2002). *Development of a national standards framework for the teaching profession*. Australian Council for Educational Research Publishing.
- Inwood, H. (2020). Emerging praxis of environmental and sustainability education in teacher education in Canada. *Journal of Philosophy of Education, 54*(4), 825-831. https://doi.org/10.1111/1467-9752.12466



- Janssens, L., Kuppens, T., Mulà, I., Staniškienė, E., & Zimmermann, A.B. (2022). Do European quality assurance frameworks support integration of transformative learning for sustainable development in higher education? *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education, 23* (8), 148-173. <u>https://doi.org/</u> 10.1108/IJSHE-07-2021-0273
- Julien, M.P., Chalmeau, R., Mainar, C.V., & Léna, J.Y. (2018). An innovative framework for encouraging future thinking in ESD: A case study in a French school. Futures, 101, 25-36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2018.04.012</u>
- Junyent, M., & Mulà, I. (2018). The quality of higher education in Andorra and the Sustainable Development Goals: A proposal for quality assessment standards and guidelines. Agencia de gualitat de l'ensenyament superior d'Andorra (AQUA).
- Kadji-Beltran, C., Zachariou, A., & Stevenson, R. (2013). Leading sustainable schools: Exploring the role of primary school principals. *Environmental Education Research*, 19 (3), 303–323. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2012.692770</u>
- Kadji-Beltran, C., Christodoulou, N., Zachariou, A., Lindemann-Matthies, P., Barker, S, & Kadis, C. (2017). An ESD pathway to quality education in the Cyprus primary education context. *Environmental Education Research*, 23(7), 1015-1031. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2016.1249459</u>
- Kapitulčinová, D., Dlouhá, J., Ryan, A., Dlouhý, J., Barton, A., Mader, M., Tilbury, D., Mulà,
 I., Benayas, J., Alba, D., Mader, C., Michelsen, G., & Vintar Mally, K. (2015).
 Leading practice publication: Professional development of university educators on education for sustainable development in European countries. Charles University in Prague.
- Kazemier, E.M., Damhof, L., Gulman, J., & Cremers, P.H.M. (2021). Mastering futures literacy in higher education: An evaluation of learning outcomes and instructional design of a faculty development program. *Futures, 132*, 102814. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2021.102814
- Kennedy, A. (2011). Collaborative continuing professional development (CPD) for teachers in Scotland: Aspirations, opportunities and barriers. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 34(1), 25–41. <u>https://www.doi.org/10.1080/02619768.2010.534980</u>
- Koster, B., & Dengerink, J.J. (2008). Professional standards for teacher educators: How to deal with complexity, ownership and function. Experiences from the Netherlands. *European Journal of Teacher Education, 31*(2), 135-149. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02619760802000115</u>.
- Kostoulas-Makrakis, N. (2010). Developing and applying a critical and transformative model to address education for sustainable development in teacher education. *Journal of Teacher Education for Sustainability, 12*(2), 17–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.2478/v10099-009-0051-0</u>
- Kvamme, O.A., Sinnes, A., & Wals, A.E.J. (2022). School strikes as catalysts for rethinking educational institutions, purposes and practices. *Special Issue 07*, 84-89. <u>https://resources.norrag.org/resource/732/education-in-times-of-climate-change</u>
- Kwauk, C.T., & Iyengar, R. (2021). *Curriculum and learning for climate action: Toward an SDG* 4.7 roadmap for systems change. UNESCO-IBE. <u>https://brill.com/view/title/60973</u>
- Lambrechts, W., Verhulst, E., & Rymenams, S. (2017). Professional development of sustainability competences in higher education: The role of empowerment. International *Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, *18*(5), 697-714. https://www.doi.org/10.1108/IJSHE-02-2016-0028
- Læssøe, J., Feinstein, N., & Blum, N. (2013). Environmental education policy research Challenges and ways research might cope with them. *Environmental Education Research, 19* (2), 231–242. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2013.778230</u>
- Liston, D., Borko, H., & Whitcomb, J. (2008). The Teacher educator's role in enhancing teacher quality. *Journal of Teacher Education*, *59*(2), 111–116. https://doi.org/10.1177/0022487108315581



- Lotz-Sisitka, H. (2017). Decolonisation as future frame for environmental and sustainability education: Embracing the commons with absence and emergence. In: P. Corcoran, J.P. Weakland, & A.E.J. Wals (Eds.), *Envisioning futures for environmental and sustainability education* (pp. 45-62). Wageningen Academic Publishers.
- Lotz-Sisitka, H., & Rosenberg, E. (2022). Education in times of climate change. *NORRAG* Special Issue 07, 9-14. <u>https://resources.norrag.org/resource/732/education-in-</u> times-of-climate-change
- Mader, M., Tilbury, D., Dlouhá, J., Benayas, J., Michelsen, G., Mader, C., Burandt, S., Ryan, A., Mulà. I., Barton, A., Dlouhý, J., & Alba, D. (2014). Mapping opportunities for professional development of university educators in education for sustainable development: A state of the art report across 22 UE4SD partner countries. University of Gloucestershire.
- Mahony, P., & Hextall, I. (2000). *Reconstructing teaching: Standards, performance and accountability*. RoutledgeFalmer.
- Mathie, R.G., & Wals, A.E.J. (2022). *Whole-school approaches to sustainability: Exemplary* practices from around the world. Education & Learning Science/Wageningen University. <u>https://doi.org/10.18174/566782</u>
- McKenzie, M., & Benavot, A. (2022). The uses of policy research. *NORRAG Special Issue* 07, 16-18. <u>https://resources.norrag.org/resource/732/education-in-times-of-</u> <u>climate-change</u>
- McKeown, R. (2012). Teacher education 1992 and 2012: Reflecting on 20 years. *Journal* of Education for Sustainable Development, 6(1) 37-41. https://doi.org/10.1177/097340821100600109
- McKeown, R. (2014). The leading edge of teacher education and ESD. *Journal of Education for Sustainable Development*, *8*(2), 127–131. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0973408214548366</u>
- McKeown, R., & Hopkins, C. (2007). International Network of Teacher Education Institutions: past, present and future. *Journal of Education for Teaching: International research and pedagogy*, 33(2), 149-155. <u>https://www.doi.org/10.1080/02607470701259408</u>
- McKeown, R., & Hopkins, C. (2014). Teacher education and education for sustainable development: Ending the DESD and beginning the GAP. York University.
- McKeown, R., & Hopkins, C. (2015). *Guidelines and recommendation for reorienting teacher education to address sustainability. Education for Sustainable Development in Action Technical Paper, no. 2.* UNESCO. <u>http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0014/001433/143370E.pdf</u>
- McMahon, M.A. (2018). *Literature review on professional standards for teaching*. GTCS. <u>https://www.gtcs.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/literature-review-</u> professional-standards-margery-mcmahon.pdf
- Merlo, A. (2022, October 25). *What is CPD training for teachers?* <u>https://www.teacheracademy.eu/blog/what-is-cpd-for-teachers/</u>
- Miller, R. (2018). Transforming the future: Anticipation in the 21st century. UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000264644
- Mirza, M.S. (2015). Institutionalizing ESD standards in teacher education programs: Case of National Accreditation Council for Teacher Education, Pakistan. *Applied Environmental Education* & *Communication*, 14(2), 97-104. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1533015X.2014.973543</u>
- Mogren, A., & Gericke, N. (2016). ESD implementation at the school organisation level, part 1 – investigating the quality criteria guiding school leaders' work at recognized ESD schools. *Environmental Education Research*, 23(7), 972-992. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2016.1226265
- Mogren, A., & Gericke, N. (2019). School leaders' experiences of implementing education for sustainable development – Anchoring the transformative perspective. *Sustainability*, *11* (12), 3343. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su11123343</u>



- Mogren, A., Gericke, N., & Scherp, H.A. (2019). Whole school approaches to education for sustainable development: A model that links to school improvement. *Environmental Education* Research, 25(4), 508-531, https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2018.1455074
- Morrison, T., & Lane, M. (2005). What "whole-of-government" means for environmental policy and management: An analysis of the connecting government initiative. *Australasian Journal of Environmental Management, 12*(1), 47–54.<u>https://doi.org/10.1080/14486563.2005.10648633</u>
- Motiejūnaitė-Schulmeister, A., De Coster, I., Davydovskaia, O., Vasiliou, N., & Birch, P. (2021). *Teachers in Europe: Careers, development and well-being*. Publications Office of the European Union. <u>https://data.europa.eu/doi/10.2797/997402</u>
- Mulà, I., Cebrián, G., & Junyent, M. (2022). Lessons learned and future research directions in education for sustainability competencies. In: P. Vare, N. Lausselet, & M. Rieckmann (Eds.), *Competences in education for sustainable development: Critical perspectives* (pp. 185-194). Springer Nature. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-91055-6_22</u>
- Mulà, I., & Tilbury, D. (2009). A United Nations Decade of Education for Sustainable Development (2005–14): What difference will it make? *Journal of Education for Sustainable Development*, *3*(1), 87–97. https://doi.org/10.1177/097340820900300116
- Mulà, I., & Tilbury, D. (2011). National journeys towards education for sustainable development, 2011: Reviewing national experiences from Chile, Indonesia, Kenya, the Netherlands, Oman. UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000192183
- Mulà, I., Tilbury, D., Ryan, A., Mader, M., Dlouhá, J., Mader, C., Benayas, J., Dlouhý, J., & Alba, D. (2017). Catalysing change in higher education for sustainable development: A review of professional development initiatives for university educators. *International Journal of Sustainability in Higher Education*, 18(5), 798-820. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJSHE-03-2017-0043
- Mulvik, I., Pribuišis, K., Siarova, H., Vežikauskaitė, J., Sabaliauskas, E., Tasiopoulou, E., Gras-Velazquez, A., Bajorinaitė, M., Billon, N., Fronza, V., Disterheft, A., & Finlayson, A. (2021). *Education for environmental sustainability: Policies and approaches in EU Member States.* Final Report, European Commission. Publications Office of the European Union. <u>https://doi.org/10.2766/391</u>
- Musset, P. (2010). *Initial teacher education and continuing training policies in a comparative perspective: Current practices in OECD countries and a literature review on potential effects*. OECD Education Working Papers, 48. OECD Publishing. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1787/5kmbphh7s47h-en</u>
- Nórden, B. (2016). Transdisciplinary teaching for sustainable development in a whole school project. *Environmental Education Research*, *12*(5), 663-677.https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2016.1266302
- OECD (2005). Teachers matter: Attracting, developing and retaining effective teachers. OECD.
- OECD (2017). Do new teachers feel prepared for teaching? *Teaching in Focus, 17*. OECD Publishing. <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/980bf07d-en</u>
- OECD (2019a). *Teachers' professional learning: Study design and implementation plan.* <u>http://www.oecd.org/education/school-resources-review/TPL-Study-Designand-Implementation-Plan.pdf</u>
- OECD (2019b). *A flying start: Improving initial teacher preparation systems*. OECD Publishing. <u>https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/education/a-flying-start_cf74e549-en</u>
- Olsson, D., Gericke, N., & Boeve-De Pauw, J. (2022). The effectiveness of education for sustainable development revisited – A longitudinal study on secondary students' action competence for sustainability. *Environmental Education Research*, 28(3), 405-429. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2022.2033170</u>



- Opfer, V.D. & Pedder, D. (2011). Conceptualizing teacher professional learning. *Review of Educational Research*, *81*(3), 376-407. <u>https://</u> <u>doi.org/10.3102/0034654311413609</u>
- Ormond, C.G., Zandvliet, D., McClaren, M., Robertson, P.A.B., Leddy, S., & Metcalfe, S. (2014). Environmental education as teacher education: Melancholic reflections from an emerging community of practice. *Canadian Journal of Environmental Education*, *19*, 160-179. <u>https://cjee.lakeheadu.ca/article/view/1302/721</u>
- Popova, A., Evans, D.K., & Arancibia, V. (2016). Training teachers on the job: What works and how to measure it. Policy research working paper no. 7834. World Bank. https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/25150
- Qi, W., Sorokina, N., & Liu, Y. (2021). The construction of teacher identity in education for sustainable development: The case of Chinese ESP teachers. *International Journal* of Higher Education, 10(2), 284-298. <u>https://doi.org/10.5430/ijhe.v10n2p284</u>
- Rauch, F., & Steiner, R. (2013). Competences for education for sustainable development in teacher education. *CEPS Journal Center for Educational Policy Studies Journal*, 3(1), 9–24.
- Rauch, F., Steinerm R., & Kurz, P. (2021). Action research for education for sustainable development: The case of the university in-service course 'education for sustainable development innovations in school and teacher education (BINE)*. *Educational Action Research, 30*(4), 632-637. https://doi.org/10.1080/09650792.2021.1971098
- Redecker, C. (2017). *European framework for the digital competence of educators: DigCompEdu.* Publications Office of the European Union. <u>https://publications.jrc.ec.europa.eu/repository/handle/JRC107466</u>
- Redman, E., Wiek, A., & Redman, A. (2018). Continuing professional development in sustainability education for K-12 teachers: Principles, programme, applications, outlook. *Journal of Education for Sustainable Development*, 12(1), 59–80. https://doi.org/10.1177/2455133318777182
- Reid, A. (2018). Investing in research and evaluation to improve practice is a direct way of showing we can act now for environmental education. *International Research in Geographical and Environmental Education, 27* (2), 99–102. https://doi.org/10.1080/10382046.2018.1440338
- Reid, A., Dillon, J., Ardoin, N., & Ferrerira, J.A. (2021). Scientists' warnings and the need to reimagine, recreate, and restore environmental education. *Environmental Education Research*, *27* (6), 783-795. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2021.1937577
- Réti, M. (2022). Country presentation Hungary. Plenary meeting of the Working Group on Schools (2021-2025) – 'Learning for Environmental sustainability'. Brussels, 5-16 September 2022.
- Réti, M., Lippai, E., & Nemes, M. (2022). Framing the frames: Integrating an ESD approach into an existing national framework. In: P. Vare, N. Lausselet, & M. Rieckmann (Eds.). Competences in education for sustainable development: Critical perspectives (pp. 93-101). Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-91055-6_12
- Rickinson, M., & McKenzie, M. (2021). The research-policy relationship in environmental and sustainability education. *Environmental Education Research*, 27(4), 465-479. https://www.doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2021.1895973
- Rieckmann, M. (2018). Learning to transform the world: Key competencies in ESD. In: A. Leicht, J. Heiss, & W.J. Byun (Eds.), *Issues and trends in education for sustainable development* (pp. 39-59). UNESCO. <u>http://unesdoc.unesco.org/images/0026/002614/261445E.pdf</u>
- Robertson, P., VanWynsberghe, R., & Ford, B. (2020). Sustainability learning pathways in the UBC teacher education program: Destination cohort. *Canadian Journal of Environmental Education*, 23(1), 50-67.



- Rushton, E.A.C., & Batchelder, M. (2020). Education for sustainable development through extra-curricular or non-curricular contexts. In: W. Leal Filho, A.M. Azul, L. Brandli, P.G. Özuyar, & T. Wall (Eds.), *Quality education* (pp. 249-258). Springer. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-95870-5_19
- Ryan, A., & Cotton, D. (2013). Times of change: Shifting pedagogy and curricula for future sustainability. In: S. Sterling, L. Maxey, & H. Luna (Eds.), *The sustainable university: Progress and prospects (pp. 151-167)*. Earthscan. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203101780</u>
- Ryan, A., & Tilbury, D. (2013). Uncharted waters: Voyages for education for sustainable development in the higher education curriculum. *Curriculum Journal*, 24(2), 272-294. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09585176.2013.779287</u>
- Sachs, J. (2003). Teacher professional standards: Controlling or developing teaching? *Teachers and Teaching: Theory and Practice, 9* (2), 175-186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13540600309373</u>
- Salite, I. (2015). Searching for sustainability in teacher education and educational research: Experiences from the Baltic and Black Sea Circle Consortium for educational research. *Discourse and Communication for Sustainable Education, 6,* 21-29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1515/dcse-2015-0002</u>
- Smith, A., & Stevenson, R. (2017). Sustaining education for sustainability in turbulent times. *The Journal of Environmental Education, 48*(2), 79-95. https://doi.org/10.1080/00958964.2016.1264920
- Sund, P. (2013). Experienced ESD-school teachers' teaching an issue of complexity. *Environmental Education Research, 21*(1), 24–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2013.862614</u>
- Scott, W.A.H., & Gough S.R. (Eds.) (2003). *Key issues in sustainable development and learning: A critical review.* Routledge.
- Scoullos, M. (2018). Regional Education for Sustainable Development Networks Learning together, acting together Policy brief Advancing ESD policy. <u>https://en.unesco.org/sites/default/files/gap pn1- regional esd networks-</u> <u>policy brief 0.pdf</u>
- Shephard, K., Rieckmann, M., & Barth, M. (2019). Seeking sustainability competence and capability in the ESD and HESD literature: An international philosophical hermeneutic analysis. *Environmental Education Research*, *25*(4), 532–547. https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2018.1490947
- Sleurs, W. (2008). Competencies for ESD (Education for Sustainable Development) teachers. A framework to integrate ESD in the curriculum of teacher training institutions. ENSI.
- Sterling, S. (2012). *The future fit framework: An introductory guide to teaching and learning for sustainability in higher education.* Higher Education Academy. <u>https://www.advance-he.ac.uk/knowledge-hub/future-fit-framework</u>
- Sterling, S. (2014). Separate tracks, or real synergy? achieving a closer relationship between education and SD post 2015. *Journal of Education for Sustainable Development*, 8, 89-112. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0973408214548</u>
- Sterling, S., Glasser, H., Rieckmann, M., & Warwick, P. (2017). More than scaling up: a critical and practical inquiry into operationalizing sustainability competencies. *Envisioning Futures for Environmental and Sustainability Education*, August, 153– 168. <u>https://doi.org/10.3920/978-90-8686-846-9_10</u>
- Stevenson, R.B. (2007). Schooling and environmental education: Contradictions in purpose and practice. *Environmental Education Research*, 13(2), 139–153. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13504620701295726</u>.
- Strom, K.J. & Viesca, K.M. (2020). Towards a complex framework of teacher learningpractice. *Professional Development in Education*, 47(2-3), 209-224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2020.1827449</u>



- Summers, M., Childs, A., & Corney, G. (2005). Education for sustainable development in initial teacher training: Issues for interdisciplinary collaboration. *Environmental Education Research*, *11*(5): 623–647. <u>https://www.doi.org/10.1080/13504620500169841</u>
- Tilbury, D. (2011). *Education for sustainable development: An expert review of processes and learning*. UNESCO. <u>https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000191442</u>
- Tilbury, D., & Galvin, G. (2022). *Input paper: A whole school approach to learning for environmental sustainability.* Expert briefing paper in support of the first meeting of the EU Working Group Schools: Learning for Sustainability. *January 2022.* <u>https://education.ec.europa.eu/document/input-paper-a-whole-school-approach-</u> <u>to-learning-for-environmental-sustainability</u>
- Tilbury, D., Mulà, I., Junyent, M., Gutiérrez, J., Albla, D., Serrano, A., & Fonolleda, M. (2019). *Proposal of indicators to embed the sustainable development goals in institutional quality assessment.* Quality Assurance Agency for Higher Education for Andorra (AQUA). <u>https://www.aqua.ad/system/files/sites/private/files/101_17-045_proposal of indicators to embed the sdg into institutional q assessment_digital 0.pdf</u>
- Tilbury, D., & Mulà, I. (2023). *Learning from thirty years of experience: Case studies in teacher education for sustainability*, EENEE report. Publications Office of the European Union.
- Tilbury, D., & Wortman, D. (2004). *Engaging people in sustainability*. Commission on Education and Communication, IUCN.
- Timm, J.M, & Barth, M. (2020). Making education for sustainable development happen in elementary schools: The role of teachers. *Environmental Education research*, 27(1), 50-66. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2020.1813256</u>
- UNECE (2022a). Framework for the implementation of the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe Strategy for Education for Sustainable Development from 2021 to 2030 (ECE/CEP/AC.13/2022/3) (Adopted by the UNECE Steering Committee on Education for Sustainable Development at its seventeenth meeting in Geneva, 30 and 31 May 2022). https://unece.org/environment/documents/2022/05/workingdocuments/framework-implementation-united-nations-economic
- UNECE (2022b). Engaging young people in the implementation of ESD in the UNECE Region: Good Practices in the engagement of youth. ECE/CEP/197. UNECE. https://unece.org/info/publications/pub/370223
- UNESCO (2014). Shaping the future we want: UN Decade of Education for Sustainable Development; final report. UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000230171
- UNESCO (2016). Education for people and planet: Creating sustainable futures for all, Global education monitoring report, 2016. UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000245752
- UNESCO (2017). Education for Sustainable Development Goals: Learning Objectives. Education for Sustainable Development. The Global Education 2030 Agenda. <u>http://www.unesco.org/open-access/terms-%0Ahttp://www.unesco.org/open-access/terms-wo</u>
- UNESCO (2019). Educational content up close. Examining the learning dimensions of Education for Sustainable Development and Global Citizenship Education. UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000372327
- UNESCO (2020). *Education for sustainable development: A roadmap*. UNESCO. <u>https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000374802</u>
- UNESCO (2021a). Berlin Declaration on Education for Sustainable Development. Learn for our planet. Act for sustainability. UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000381228.locale=en



- UNESCO (2021b). Learn for our planet: a global review of how environmental issues are integrated in education. UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000377362
- UNESCO (2022a). The concept of sustainability and its contribution towards quality transformative education: Thematic paper. UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000381528
- UNESCO (2022b). *Towards a common definition of micro-credentials.* UNESCO. <u>https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000381668</u>
- UNESCO, & Education International (2021). *Teachers have their say: motivation, skills and opportunities to teach education for sustainable development and global citizenship.* UNESCO. <u>https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000379914</u>
- UNESCO-UNEP (1990). Environmentally educated teachers: The priority of priorities? *Connect*, *15*(1), 1–3.
- United Nations General Assembly (UNGA) (1987). Report of the World Commission on Environment and Development: Our Common Future. Transmitted to the General Assembly as an Annex to document A/42/427 – Development and International Cooperation: Environment.
- UNGA (2015). Resolution A/RES/70/1 on Transforming our world: Agenda 2030 for sustainable development adopted by the General Assembly on 25 September 2015. <u>https://undocs.org/Home/Mobile?FinalSymbol=A%2FRES%2F70%2F1&Language</u> <u>=E&DeviceType=Desktop&LangRequested=False</u>
- UNGA (2020). Resolution A/RES/74/223 on Education for sustainable development in the framework of the 2030 Agenda for Sustainable Development (Adopted at the Seventy-fourth session on 24 January 2020).https://digitallibrary.un.org/record/3848700?ln=zh_CN
- United Nations University-Institute for the Advanced Study of Sustainability (UNU IAS). RCE contributions to a more sustainable world: Celebrating five years of innovative projects on education for sustainable development (2015-2019). UNU IAS. <u>https://rcenetwork.org/portal/sites/default/files/flipping_book/pdf/UNU_RCE_Cont_ributions_2020_Double.pdf</u>
- Van Poeck, K., Vandenabeele, J., & Bruyninckx, H. (2014). Taking stock of the UN Decade of Education for Sustainable Development: The policymaking process in Flanders. *Environmental Education Research, 20* (5), 695–717. <u>https://www.doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2013.836622</u>
- Van Poeck, K., & Lysgaard, J.A. (2015). The roots and routes of environmental and <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13504622.2015.1108392</u>sustainability education policy research. Environmental Education Research, 22(3), 1-13.
- Vare, P., Arro, G., de Hamer, A., Gobbo, G. Del, de Vries, G., Farioli, F., Kadji-Beltran, C., Kangur, M., Mayer, M., Millican, R., Nijdam, C., Réti, M., & Zachariou, A. (2019). Devising a competence-based training program for educators of sustainable development: Lessons learned. *Sustainability*, 11(7). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/su11071890</u>
- Vare, P. (2022). The competence turn. In P. Vare, N. Lausselet, & M. Rieckmann (Eds.), Competences in education for sustainable development: Critical perspectives (pp. 11-18). Springer Nature. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-91055-6</u>
- Vare, P., Lausselet, N., & Rieckmann, M. (2022). Competences in education for sustainable development: Critical perspectives. Springer Nature. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-91055-6
- Vangrieken, K., Dochy, F., Raes, E., & Kyndt, E. (2015). Teacher collaboration: A systematic review. *Educational Research Review*, 15 (June 2015), 17-40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/J.EDUREV.2015.04.002</u>



- Wals, A.E.J. (2009). *Review of contexts and structures for education for sustainable development 2009: Key findings & ways forward.* UNESCO. https://unesdoc.unesco.org/ark:/48223/pf0000187757
- Wals, A.E.J. (2020). Transgressing the hidden curriculum of unsustainability: towards a relational pedagogy of hope. *Educational Philosophy and Theory*, *52*(8), 825–826. https://doi.org/10.1080/00131857.2019.1676490
- Wals, A., Pinar, W., Macintyre, T., Chakraborty, A., Johnson-Mardones, D., Waghid, Y., Tusiime, M., Le Grange, L. LL, Razak, D.A., Accioly, I., Xu, Y., Humphrey, N., Iyengar, R., Chaves, M., Herring, E., Vickers, E.A., Santamaria, R.D.P., Korostelina, K.V., & Pherali, T. (2022). Curriculum and pedagogy in a changing world. In: E.A. Vickers, K. Pugh, L. Gupta (Eds.). *Education and context in reimagining education: The international science and evidence-based education assessment* [A.K. Duraiappah, & N.M. van Atteveldt et al. (Eds.)]. UNESCO MGIEP. <u>https://mgiep.unesco.org/iseeareport</u>
- Wheelahan, L., & Moodie, G. (2021). Analysing micro-credentials in higher education: a Bernsteinian analysis. *Journal of Curriculum Studies, 53*(2), 212-228. https://doi.org/10.1080/00220272.2021.1887358
- Wiek, A., & Redman, A. (2022). What do key competencies in sustainability offer and how to use them. In: P. Vare, N. Lausselet, & M. Rieckmann (Eds.), *Competences in education for sustainable development: Critical perspectives* (pp. 27-34). Springer. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-91055-6_4</u>
- Wiek, A., Bernstein, M.J., Fley, R.W., Cohen, M., Forrest, N., Kuzdas, C., Kay, B., & Keeler, L.W. (2016). Operationalizing competencies in higher education for sustainable development. In: M. Barth, G. Michelsen, M. Rieckmann, & I. Thomas (Eds.), *Routledge Book of Higher Education for Sustainable Development* (pp. 241–260). Routledge. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315852249</u>
- Wiek, A., Withycombe, L., & Redman, C.L. (2011). Key competencies in sustainability: A reference framework for academic program development. *Sustainability Science*, 6(2), 203–218. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11625-011-0132-6</u>
- Zachariou, A., Kadji-Beltran, C., & Manoli, C.C. (2013). School principals' professional development in the framework of sustainable schools in Cyprus: A matter of refocusing. *Professional Development in Education*, 39(5), 712-731. https://doi.org/10.1080/19415257.2012.736085



Appendices

Appendix 1. Case studies

The case studies referred to in the text are available in a separate document entitled 'Learning from thirty years of experience: Case studies in teacher education for sustainability' (Tilbury & Mulà, 2023):

Case study 1. Green Community Initiative: Italy

Case study 2. Career Progression and Assessment Tools: Hungary

Case study 3. Resources for Change: Teaching and Learning for a Sustainable Future (International)

Case study 4. MEdIES Regional Capacity Building: NGO Partnership (Mediterranean)

Case study 5. Embedding LfS into Teachers Professional Standards: Scotland

Case study 6. The University Educators for Sustainable Development Initiative: (European)

Case study 7. Futures Education: Denmark

Case study 8. EduSTA: Micro-Credentials for Educators (European)

Case study 9. The International Network of Teacher Education Institutions (INTEI) (International)



Appendix 2. Key Informant Group

Jaume Ametller (Catalonia)

Jaume is an Associate Professor *Science Education* at the Faculty of Education and Psychology of the University of Girona. Since 2019, he has been the Director of the MIF Programme (Initial Teacher Education Improvement Programme), supported by the General Directorate of Universities and the Government of Catalonia. He is also Director of the University's Institute of Education, which supports the professional development of educators at all levels of education (from early childhood to university) and provides advice on issues regarding educational planning, research and pedagogical innovation in the province of Girona.

Antje Brock (Germany)

Antje Brock has been a researcher at Institut Futur since October 2015 and is part of the team that is developing a framework and monitoring the implementation of ESD in Germany. Previously, she was a research assistant at Bielefeld University, where she worked as a lecturer in educational sciences. She is also a board member of the German Early Career Scientists in Future Earth and a member of the Environmental Justice Institute.

Jo-Anne Ferreira (Australia)

Jo-Anne is Head of School and Dean (Education) at the University of Southern Queensland. Previously, she was Professor of Sustainability Education (La Trobe University) and Director, Centre for Teaching and Learning, and Academic Director, SCU Online (Southern Cross University). Her recent research focuses on systems-based change in teacher education and the strategies and techniques deployed by environmental and sustainability educators to empower learners to become environmental citizens.

Evgenya Kostadinova (Bulgaria)

Evgeniya is the Head of Curricula and Study Contents Directorate at the Ministry of Education and Sciences in Bulgaria. She has an expertise in and has engaged in national and European policy development in the area of pre-school and school education, teacher development and international relations. She has been a member of various international policy expert groups on sustainability learning and democratic citizenship, including the UNECE Steering Committee on Education for Sustainable Development, the Council of Europe Working Group on the Reference Framework on Competences for Democratic Culture, the Standing Group on Indicators, Working Group on Schools, EC Education Committee, etc.

Vicki Malotidi (Greece)

Vicki is a senior education programme officer at the Mediterranean Information Office for Environment, Culture and Sustainable Development (MIO-ECSDE) on Education for Sustainable Development, a non-profit Federation of 133 Mediterranean NGOs working in the fields of the environment and development. Vicki is responsible for the professional development of educators and the development of pedagogical resources in ESD.

Michela Mayer (Italy)



Michela is a recognised national and international expert in the field of LfS with strong experience in evaluative research, comparative research and action research. She was a member of the Italian UNESCO commission for ESD and the ENSI International network Steering Committee. As President and founder of ENSI, she was involved in various projects aimed at developing teachers' competences in LfS. As Researcher at the Italian National Institute for the Evaluation of the Educational System (INVALSI), in 2000 she carried out a National Survey on Environmental Sustainability competences involving 50,000 students. As founder and member of the steering committee of the IASS – Italian Association for Sustainability Science, over the last six years she has been involved in national and European projects relating to the development of competences in environmental sustainability among formal and non-formal educators.

Jacqueline Morley (Scotland)

Jacqueline joined the General Teaching Council, Scotland Education Team as Education Advisor (Professional Learning) in 2014. Her work includes a key focus on support for professional development structures and learning, as well as professional review processes with a focus on LfS. She is invested in professional development strategies and systems that impact education. She has worked extensively on CPD and leadership support, with a particular emphasis on coaching and developing a mentoring culture supported by action learning work. She has worked on various Headship panels. She currently works with accredited teacher education models for sustainability.

Elaine Nevan (Ireland)

Elaine is the Executive Director of ECO-UNESCO, an NGO that supports education for sustainability and learning across Ireland, with a particular focus on youth development, secondary education and teacher education. She is a member of the Advisory Group on Education for Sustainable Development at the Department of Education, Ireland, and a Ministerial Appointee to the Environmental Protection Agency.

Cristina Olteanu (Romania)

Cristina is an adviser on European Affairs at the General Directorate for International Relations and European Affairs at the Ministry of Education of Romania. She is a national focal point for the UNECE Education for Sustainable Development Steering Committee. She is actively involved in the European affairs sector in relation to the negotiation of various documents on education and training of the Committee on Education and the European Council – Education section.

Mónika Réti (Hungary)

Mónika is a policy officer at the Department of Content Development in Public Education of the Ministry of Interior. She has been a member of various policy expert groups on sustainability learning in Hungary and Europe, including the UNECE Education for Sustainable Development Steering Committee. During her career, she has participated in large-scale STEM education and sustainability projects (involving research and development activities), which have provided her with a broad view of international trends in these fields.



Appendix 3. Case study informants

- Eveliina Asikaninen School of Professional Teacher Education, Tampere University of Applied Sciences (Finland)
- Grandi Gianluca
 Ministry of Education (Italy)
- Charles Hopkins UNESCO Chair in Reorienting Education towards Sustainability, York University (Canada)
- Katrin Kohl Executive Coordinator to the UNESCO Chair, York University (Canada)
- Nicklas Larsen
 Senior advisor at the Copenhagen Institute for Future Studies (CIFS) and UNESCO
 Chair on Anticipatory Leadership & Futures Capabilities (Denmark)
- Vicky Malotidi Senior Project Officer, MIO-ECSDE (Greece)
- Michela Mayer Steering Committee of the Italian Association for Sustainability Science (Italy)
- Ian Menzies Senior Education Officer, Education Scotland (Scotland)
- Jacqueline Morley Senior Education Officer, General Teaching Council of Scotland (Scotland)
- Mónika Réti Education Policy Officer, Ministry of Interior (Hungary)
- Sanna Ruhalahti School of Professional Teacher Education, Tampere University of Applied Sciences (Finland)
- Maria Antonietta Salvucci
 Ministry of Education (Italy)
- Hanna Teräs School of Professional Teacher Education, Tampere University of Applied Sciences (Finland) Tampere University of Applied Sciences (Finland)



[THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

Finding information about the EU

Online

Information about the European Union in all the official languages of the EU is available on the Europa website at: https://europa.eu/european-union/index_en

EU publications

You can download or order free and priced EU publications at: https://publications.europa.eu/en/publications. Multiple copies of free publications may be obtained by contacting Europe Direct or your local information centre (see https://europa.eu/european-union/contact_en).



